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April 18, 2008 
 
To the Permanent Council of the  
ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES 

 
The Board of External Auditors (Board) is pleased to present its annual report on the external audits of the ac-

counts and financial statements of the ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES (OAS) and its related entities 
in accordance with Article 123 of the OAS General Standards that governs the operations of the General Secretariat 
and, generally, OAS’ related organizations.  This report is submitted in accordance with Article 130, which requires 
that the Board submit its report to the Permanent Council within the first four months of the year.   

 
The report covers the following financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007:   
 
• Regular, FEMCIDI, Specific and Service Funds of the OAS  
• Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund  
• Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund  
• Trust for the Americas  
• Medical Benefits Trust Fund  
• Inter-American Defense Board  
• Retirement and Pension Fund 
 
In addition, the report includes comments and recommendations from the Board for improving operating pro-

cedures and internal accounting controls. 
 
Ernst & Young LLP conducted the audits of the 2007 financial statements for significant funds and entities 

managed by OAS and issued unqualified (“clean”) opinions on all of the funds and entities that it audited.  E&Y re-
ported one significant deficiency related to the need for OAS to strengthen the review process over significant ac-
counts and processes.  E&Y also reported one other matter related to ethics training.  These issues have been com-
municated to appropriate officials within OAS.   

 
In preparing this report, the Board considered the financial statement audit work performed by the external con-

tractor and the results of the work performed by OAS’ Office of Inspector General.  In addition, the Board met with 
the Inspector General and various management officials, including the Executive Secretary for Administration and 
Finance and the five Directors under this area; representatives from entities related to OAS; and representatives 
from the Secretary General, Assistant Secretary General, Committee on Administrative and Budgetary Affairs, and 
Legal Services, to discuss operations and the internal control environment with them.   
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As a result of various accounting scandals world-wide, the role of audit committees has evolved over the past five 

years, including an expansion of roles and responsibilities.  The Board takes its responsibilities over the funds and 

activities of the Organization of American States (OAS) seriously.  As such, this report includes not only an assess-

ment of the financial reporting process, including an analysis of the financial condition of the fund, but also informa-

tion on modernization initiatives that need focus and control issues that need to be addressed.  The Board wishes to 

bring these issues to the attention of the General Assembly, Permanent Council, and Secretary General. 

 

Overall the Board is extremely concerned about the financial condition of the Regular Fund of the OAS. It is clear 

that Member States believe in the importance of the OAS mission, because the number of mandates and requested 

projects continued to grow.  However, unless the Member States are willing to invest in this multi-lateral organiza-

tion, similar to the investments they make in the United Nations, the Board believes within the next five years the 

programs and activities delivered by OAS will have to be drastically cut back.  Member States must develop a 

mechanism to cover mandatory cost increases or risk losing the benefits of this organization.  The Board was in-

formed that at the current quota level, the increased expenditures due to inflation will create a continuing budget 

shortfall that will exhaust the remaining OAS reserve funds by 2010.  The current mismatch between mandatory 

salary increases without a corresponding increase in quotas is not sustainable, but more importantly it eventually 

shifts the primary focus from increased effectiveness to remaining a going concern. Although the Board notes that 

GS/OAS is still striving to attain even more operational efficiencies that could create some limited cost savings, it 

believes that most opportunities have already been taken advantage of. 

 

As one of the world’s most effective and respected multi-lateral organizations, the Board strongly believes that it is 

important not only to protect but to grow the OAS “brand.” In order to sustain the support from the Member States, 

the Board believes that OAS needs to modernize its policies and business processes to ensure a higher level of 

transparency and accountability.  The Board was pleased to see a number of initiatives underway that will lead to 

better governance.  For instance, the Board learned that OAS has implemented an indirect cost recovery initiative.  

While the Board feels that this is a critical first step, it is important for OAS to institutionalize this process to ensure 

that it continues to be viable.  The move to international accounting principles will assist the Member States to bet-

ter understand the serious financial position of the Regular Fund. 

 

The Board would also like to stress the need for OAS to agree upon an integrated real property and capital plan.  

Currently, OAS manages real property with an estimated market value of $363 million, including buildings of histori-

cal significance.  OAS must maximize the potential of OAS property, and should make a decision on its real property 

needs and goals.  OAS also needs to begin addressing serious deferred maintenance issues in any buildings that will 

continue to be utilized.  At a minimum, the Board believes that the building at 16th Street and Euclid Street should 

be sold.  However, the Board feels strongly that any sale proceeds should not be used to cover operational costs, but 

instead be used to cover needed capital expenditures in other OAS buildings. 

 

BOARD OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REPORT 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
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The Board also noted certain internal control issues that OAS needs to address.  The Board understands that a num-

ber of initiatives are underway to address these issues.  However, it wants to stress the need to ensure that control 

issues are considered during the governance and business process modernization initiatives that are underway.  

 

The following report includes more details on the issues described above, as well as other concerns that the Board 

noted during its annual meeting.  The Board hopes that OAS uses these suggestions to successfully evolve into a 

more stable, efficient, and effective organization. 

SECTION I 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
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CHAPTER 1 
COMMENTS RELATING TO THE GENERAL SECRETARIAT 
 
This Chapter includes a summary of the financial condition of the Regular, Specific, and Voluntary Funds, and also 

addresses management initiatives undertaken to implement recommendations contained in last year’s Board report as 

well as new issues identified by the Board. The information presented in this chapter is organized as follows: 

 

• Status of Recommendations from the Board’s 2006 Report 

• Financial Statement Audit Reports and Supporting Records 

• Independent Auditors’ Assessment of the Internal Control Environment  

• Financial Condition of the OAS Regular, Specific, and Voluntary Funds 

• OAS Modernization 

STATUS OF RECOMMENDATIONS FROM 
THE BOARD’S 2006 REPORT 

In its 2006 Report, the Board discussed several 

issues related to the operation of OAS and pro-

vided specific recommendations to address 

them.  The Board is generally satisfied with the 

progress made by GS/OAS in implementing its 

recommendations despite OAS’ limited re-

sources.  The Board is closing three recommen-

dations made in its 2006 report.  Implementing 

these recommendations has assisted OAS to develop an indirect cost recovery process, identify new accounting prin-

ciples to use, and consolidate financial management work throughout the organization.  Twenty-two recommenda-

tions made in the 2006 Report remain open, although the Board has revised some of these to reflect progress made 

and changing circumstances.  Information on these recommendations and new issues are described in detail in the 

following sections.   

 

 

The independent external auditing firm, Ernst and Young LLP (E&Y), conducted the audits of the 2007 financial state-

ments of the significant funds and entities managed by GS/OAS and issued unqualified (“clean”) opinions, the high-

est level audit results, on all of the funds and entities it audited.  The financial statement audits were designed to 

focus on appropriate key areas based on E&Y’s assessment of risk. 

 

Overall, E&Y reported that OAS’ internal control environment was generally effective.  However, E&Y reported a sig-

nificant deficiency related to the need to strengthen the review process over significant accounts and processes.  

General Secretariat 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT REPORTS AND SUPPORTING RECORDS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ ASSESSMENT OF THE INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT 
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E&Y also reported one other matter related to ethics training.  These issues have been communicated to appropriate 

officials within GS/OAS. 

 

 

 

The major objectives of the Regular Fund, financed principally by quotas from Member States, is to provide general 

services required by the General Secretariat, as well as technical supervision and administrative support to the Gen-

eral Assembly, Permanent Council, and other entities including the Inter-American Commission of Human Rights, 

Inter-American Commission of Women, Inter-American Juridical Committee, Inter-American Children’s Institute, 

Inter-American Commission for Drug Abuse Control, Inter-American Telecommunications Commission, Inter-

American Defense Board, Executive Secretariat for Integral Development, and the Pan American Foundation. 

 

The Specific Funds are financed by grants or bequests for activities specified by donors, and any other contributions 

by national or international public or private entities for carrying out activities or programs of the General Secre-

tariat.  These funds also include designated funds that have been segregated for a specific purpose and whose use is 

restricted through designation by the General Assembly, the General Secretariat, or the donor. 

 

Voluntary funds consist of the Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council for Integral Development 

(FEMCIDI), which finances the multilateral and national cooperation programs, projects, and activities of the Inter-

American Council for Integral Development (CIDI). FEMCICI is financed mainly by voluntary contributions of the 

Member States to support the programs adopted by the Council and approved by the General Assembly. 

 

While at first glance, it may seem like the Regular Fund was in a good financial position.  As noted below, the 

amount of revenue and expenditures were fairly stable in 2007.  For instance, during 2007, the total expenditures 

and obligations of $79.9 million was $2.5 million less than the revenue of $82.4 million and $5 million less than the 

adjusted budget of $84.9 million. 

 

However, a closer look shows that the Regular Fund is, in fact, in a difficult financial position.  Currently, GS/OAS 

funds its budget deficits from the Reserve Subfund.  However, the amount in this fund is decreasing rapidly.  GS/

OAS currently estimates that it will be in a deficit beginning in 2010, unless something is done. 

 

Tables 1 and 2 show the Regular Fund financial results and quota collections, respectively, from 2003 to 2007. 

FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE OAS REGULAR, SPECIFIC, AND VOLUNTARY FUNDS 

SECTION I 
CH 1 

Table 1 
Regular Fund Financial Results 
(in millions) 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Account/Line Item:

Income (A) 82.4$       84.0$       79.8$       68.3$       71.9$       
Decreases 80.5         80.3         77.2         79.9         76.3         
Operating Results Increase (Decrease) 1.9           3.7           2.6           (11.5)        (4.4)          
Fund Balance 15.8$       13.9$       10.2$       7.6$         19.1$       (B)

(A) Income mainly consists of quota collections, but also includes such items as interest and rental income.

(B) This is net of $21 million in supplementary appropriations transferred in January 2003 to the Specific Funds

due to CP/RES. 831.
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Tables 3 and 4 show Specific and Voluntary Funds’ financial results, respectively, from 2004 to 2007. 

Quota Collections 

The collection of quotas is still an issue that impacts OAS’ overall financial condition.  Currently, Member States es-

tablish their own payment plans for quotas.  Although some Member States pay their quotas early in the year, in 

many cases, the Member States provide their quota payments near year-end.  This can create a difficult cash flow 

situation within GS/OAS because the timing of the quota payments is irregular when compared to the budget execu-

tion.  For instance, OAS at times in the past had a difficult time meeting payroll and other fixed costs on a timely 

basis.  Capital and project planning can be difficult when GS/OAS does not know when or if funds will be available.  

The Board has regularly made a recommendation that OAS consider changing the quota requirements so that Mem-

ber States would pay at least a portion of their quotas earlier in the year.  This would make the operating budget 

more consistent. 

 

Unfortunately, this recommendation has not been implemented.  The Board is concerned that unless formal changes 

are made in the process, the financial ability to support ongoing operations could easily worsen in the future.  This 

year OAS anticipates that they will be in a deficit position by October unless a change to the policy is made to re-

quire earlier payment.    

 

SECTION I 
CH 1 

Table 2 
Regular Fund Quota Collections 
(in millions) (A) 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Account/Line Item:

Beginning balance of quotas from prior years 12.5$       18.7$       21.2$       14.6$       10.6$       
Current year quotas 77.3         73.7         73.7         73.7         73.7         
Quota collections (78.9)        (79.9)        (76.3)        (67.1)        (69.7)        
Quotas in arrears at year-end (B), (C) 10.9$       12.5$       18.7$       21.2$       14.6$       

(A) Balances exclude quotas in arrears from Cuba, which were $2.2 million, from many years ago.

(B) Countries with the largest quotas in arrears as of December 31, 2007, include: Argentina, $7.3 million, and Brazil, $3.1 million.

(C) The number of Member states with quotas in arrears decreased from nine countries in 2006 to five countries at the end of 2007.

Table 3 
Specific Funds Financial Results 
(in millions) 

Table 4 
Voluntary Funds Financial Results 
(in millions) 

2007 2006 2005 2004
Account/Line Item:

Contributions 62.9$        66.7$        65.0$        110.8$      

Expenditures and Obligations 55.8$        57.9$        74.9$        89.0$        

2007 2006 2005 2004
Account/Line Item:

Income 7.0$         6.7$         1.8$         8.2$         
Decreases 6.4           4.1           5.6           9.4           
Net Increase (Decrease) 0.6$         2.6$         (3.8)$        (1.2)$        
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1.1  The Board recommends that the Permanent Council consider changing the quota require-

ments to have Member States fund their quotas by September 30.   

 

Budgetary Resources 

Even when quotas are collected in a timely manner, the financial condition of the Regular Fund is still a critical issue 

since the annual quotas do not cover the operating budget of the GS/OAS.  For instance, in 2008, the approved 

budget was $87.5 million, while the quota amount was $77.4 million.  The Regular Fund does collect some additional 

revenue (approximately $3 million) related to interest and rents.  However the additional revenue does not close the 

gap between the budget and the actual. 

 

With annual quotas fixed at $73.7 million for many years (raised to $77.4 million in 2007), OAS has undergone a 

continuing decline in the amount of inflation-adjusted cash resources.  GS/OAS estimates that if the 1999 quota as-

sessments amount had been adjusted for inflation based on the OAS policy of maintaining parity with United Na-

tions’ salary increases, the current assessment would be approximately $96.2 million.  While the quota rates have 

not grown with inflation, the costs of the organization, including salaries, utilities, and other costs have increased.  

Therefore, the Regular Fund has had to absorb these inflationary costs.   

 

In 2007, the Secretary General proposed certain increases in the budget to cover some of the inflationary costs and 

also proposed that the General Assembly implement, for 2009, a semi-automatic mechanism to increase quotas an-

nually to match cost of living requirements up to three percent.  Unfortunately, because of a focus on developing a 

quota allocation amount among Member States, the Secretary General’s proposal was not acted upon.   

 

The Board feels that this is a very critical time for the future of OAS. If the Member States do not begin to take this 

looming budgetary crisis seriously, within a few years, OAS will no longer be able to continue, without dramatic cut-

backs in programs and activities.  Although the Board notes that GS/OAS is still striving to attain even more opera-

tional efficiencies that could create some limited cost savings, it believes that most opportunities have already been 

taken advantage of.  Member States need to start a dialogue on whether OAS is an organization that they want to 

continue in the future, and if so, in what capacity.  This discussion can not wait until the organization is no longer 

viable. 

 

However, in the case that Member States do not begin to address the funding issues, GS/OAS should begin develop-

ing a long-term plan of action to reduce programs and activities.  This plan would need to include drastic cutbacks 

and the disposal of assets to cover whatever operating costs would still be needed under the reduced operating 

structure.  Member States will have to then expect a reduced capacity of the OAS to support the diverse programs 

and projects. 

 

1.2  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that the Permanent Council ensure consistency be-

tween the mechanism of setting OAS quotas and the mechanism of setting expenditures, such as 

personnel costs, pursuant to parity with the United Nations.   

 

1.3  The Board recommends that GS/OAS develop a long-term strategy for the organization in 

case the chronic budget shortfall situation does not improve. 

 

SECTION I 
CH 1 
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OAS MODERNIZATION  

 

 

OAS needs to continue to modernize in order to maintain its competitive advantage as it seeks scarce donor re-

sources and also to sustain and increase support for OAS’ missions.  Good internal governance, which includes op-

erational efficiencies and transparency, is fundamental to successful program execution and Member State support. 

 

The Board would like to note that GS/OAS has a number of initiatives underway to improve operations.  However, 

the Board found that in many cases, OAS’ internal policies and procedures were outdated and did not reflect current 

industry standards.  Changes to the standards have been made in a piecemeal fashion, often to solve a specific is-

sue.  Business processes are rigid and rules-driven.  Most of the reports directed to management and donors are 

financial and they lack analysis and meaningful links between the use of resources and the intended outcomes.   

 

Despite a significant investment in a modern enterprise resource management system, it was configured to fit an 

outdated resource management model and business processes.  External systems were being developed independ-

ently by program areas and not as part of a well-defined organization approach to managing resources and modern-

izing business processes. 

 

OAS needs to develop a meaningful way to measure performance based on common standards.  It needs to stress 

accountability and the effective use of resources to accomplish goals, and focus on quality service and results.  OAS 

has a number of initiatives under way that should help it to evolve and meet Member States expectations.  The 

Board supports these initiatives and encourages the Member States to assist in these efforts and ensure that they 

are successful. 

 

SAF Transformation and Modernization Project  

OAS has implemented the SAF Transformation and Modernization Project (STAMP) taskforce.  This taskforce is focus-

ing on business process reengineering, including easing the administrative burden and reducing manual processing.  

As part of this initiative, STAMP is working to simplify and standardize policies, procedures, and definitions.  STAMP 

plans to develop a risk management framework and achieve a reasonable balance between controls and risks.  The 

taskforce includes members from across the organization. 

 

The Board supports this initiative and recognizes the improvements already made by the STAMP taskforce.  The 

Board encourages STAMP to continue to move forward on the improvements to OAS’ business processes.  STAMP 

should communicate its plans throughout the organization.  The Board believes that the Committee on Administra-

tive and Budgetary Affairs (CAAP) is pivotal in moving the modernization agenda forward.   

 

1.4   The Board recommends that GS/OAS continue with the SAF Transformation and Moderniza-

tion Project.  The taskforce should communicate its plans to internal stakeholders, Member 

States, and external parties. 

 

Planning and Strategic Goals 

The Office of Planning, Control, and Evaluations developed strategic goals and a results-oriented budget for OAS. 

These goals are being integrated into performance evaluation standards that specifically reflect OAS’ goals. As part 

SECTION I 
CH 1 
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of this initiative the Office of Planning, Control, and Evaluations has developed financial reports that link the use of 

financial resources to the achievement of specific strategic objectives and priorities. The Board believes that mean-

ingful and commonly understood financial statements are essential to provide transparency of the financial results of 

an organization. Also, this type of financial reporting will better demonstrate the true costs and benefits at a project 

level.   

 

Although the Board recognizes this might take several years to implement, it believes that this is an important initia-

tive that is responsive to prior Board recommendations and should be supported throughout the organization.  For 

this project to be successful, it will need the support of all interested parties.   

 

1.5  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that the Permanent Council continue implementing 

a planning process that identifies strategic objectives and priorities, allocates scarce budgetary 

resources to achieve OAS’ key goals, helps to generate reliable cost estimates of mandates be-

fore their approval, and supports accountability for results. 

 

1.6  The Board recommends, in light of the existing systemic shortfall between quota funding 

and budget requirements, that the OAS clearly align its priorities to available resources, which 

may lead to some programs and activities being reduced, deferred, or eliminated.  

 

1.7  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS continue to develop financial reports 

that provide a link between the use of resources and achievement of strategic goals and objec-

tives in a manner that is useful to Member States, management, and donors.  GS/OAS should 

work with all interested parties to ensure that they understand the new format and information 

being included.   

 

Indirect Cost Recovery (ICR) 

In the execution of contributions, there are various costs incurred that, although necessary and incremental, cannot 

be easily attributed to a particular project or program.  Some of these costs include:  setup and management of ac-

counts, financial reporting, procurement services, internal/external audit coordination, legal analysis and review, and 

issuing disbursements.  In last year’s report, the Board recommended that OAS work to adopt a mechanism to re-

cover indirect costs from Specific Fund donations.   

 

The Board was pleased to learn that OAS had implemented an indirect cost recovery (ICR) process.  For all contribu-

tions over $20,000 that began after the process was approved, GS/OAS will recover a portion (11 percent for Mem-

ber States and 12 percent for other donors) to cover indirect costs.   

 

Indirect costs incurred in managing contributions occur within various offices, thus, these costs must be allocated 

transparently among them.  GS/OAS implemented a Committee on Administrative Matters (CAM) that is entrusted to 

oversee the allocation process.  The Board found that some of the indirect costs recovered are provided to SAF to 

cover administrative costs and some of the funds are provided to the specific projects.   

 

Although the Board is pleased with the strides made in this area, it still believes that additional work is needed.  GS/

OAS has recently issued a handbook covering ICR guidelines and procedures and is working to improve the proc-

SECTION I 
CH 1 
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esses needed to fully implement the program.  Eventually, OAS will need to implement an activity based costing 

model.  Because the Board feels that GS/OAS is moving forward on this initiative, it is not making any formal recom-

mendations in this report.  However, it will continue to focus on this initiative during future Board meetings. 

 

Accounting Standards  

The combined financial statements for the Regular, Voluntary, and Specific Funds are prepared on the basis of Budg-

etary and Financial Rules of the OAS.  These rules were adopted to meet the budgetary and other requirements of 

the OAS and, as such, result in accounting principles and a financial statement presentation that vary in certain ma-

terial respects from generally accepted accounting principles.   

 

The Board believes that using these internally developed standards limits OAS’ ability to stay current with business 

developments affecting other international organizations and to adopt best practices.  In addition, OAS’ financial re-

porting is not as useful as it could be, and it is not comparable to similar organizations.   

 

The Board was pleased to learn that OAS proposed to the Permanent Council to adopt the International Public Sector 

Accounting Standards (IPSAS) established by the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), which are being 

adopted by other international organizations and are kept up-to-date on emerging accounting and reporting issues.  

This will allow OAS to show a more comprehensive financial picture of the organization, and provide financial state-

ments that are comparable to similar international organizations.  By showing a more realistic financial position, the 

Board hopes that Member States will better understand the serious financial situation of the Regular Fund.  

 

The transition to the new standards will take time and resources to implement effectively.  OAS will need to carefully 

consider the most advantageous timing and methodology for the transition.  However, the benefits will outweigh the 

costs.  OAS is already in the process of upgrading the accounting system, reviewing business processes, and rewrit-

ing internal policies and procedures manuals.   

 

GS/OAS will need to implement an outreach effort with both internal and external users of the financial statements 

to explain how the financial reporting would be impacted under the new standards.  For instance, certain employee 

benefits and other obligations are reported when they are paid, not when they accrue, while quota revenue is not 

recognized until actually received.  The Board believes that outreach is a key issue that should be addressed. 

 

1.8  The Board recommends that GS/OAS develop a plan of action to transition from the Budget-

ary and Financial Rules to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.  In addition, 

GS/OAS should begin outreach efforts with both internal and external users of the financial 

statements so that the users will understand the significant changes to the information included 

in the financial statements. 

 

1.9  The Board recommends that the Permanent Council adopt IPSAS upon receipt of a plan of 

action from GS/OAS per recommendation 1.8. 

 

Financial and Accounting System 

Though it has been in place for several years, OASES has not been fully utilized as the OAS enterprise management 

tool. Several areas existed where key procedures were being performed outside of the OASES system, manual entry 
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was still required in instances where modules were not integrated, and OASES was not generally used as a means to 

monitor all operations and perform analysis to make business decisions. 

 

The Department of Information Technology upgraded the Oracle version used, implemented several modules of OA-

SES, and shut-down old systems replaced by OASES. DBFS began requiring all reports to be submitted using OASES 

in 2007. Additional modules still need to be implemented and integrated, and reports need to be developed as users 

get Oracle training and begin to define their needs from the system.   

 

1.10  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS fully utilize the Oracle system, OA-

SES, as an enterprise management tool. The Department of Information Technology should con-

tinue to implement the remaining modules, determine users’ needs, and provide guidance to us-

ers on how to better utilize the system. 

 

Project Management 

OAS has hundreds of Specific Fund grants and projects.  Many of these projects are funded by multiple sources.  GS/

OAS has been implementing processes to assess Specific Fund donations in an organized and comprehensive man-

ner.  OAS plans to limit Specific Fund contributions to projects that meet its overall goals.  OAS has established the 

Project Evaluation Committee that evaluates the appropriateness and importance of projects.  OAS has also created 

a Committee on Resource Mobilization to help implement a comprehensive fund-raising strategy, which avoids dupli-

cation, focuses on OAS priorities, and ensures that projects follow the guidelines of the Project Evaluation Commit-

tee.  GS/OAS also recently issued a useful handbook for Specific Fund agreements.   

 

However, the Board determined that OAS did not have an adequate system in place to ensure all grant requirements 

are known and centralized for ease of access and reference for monitoring purposes.  This will be difficult to imple-

ment, because many Member States prefer to use their own standardized grant agreement forms.  While the Board 

believes that it is reasonable to allow donors to use their own standardized forms, OAS should develop a list of items 

that should be included in all agreements and of items that will not be accepted, and ensure that each agreement 

meets these requirements.  OAS could perform this assessment using some type of standardized checklist that is 

certified and kept with the agreement.  The Board also learned that not all technical areas were complying with OAS 

grant procedures.  In addition, OAS has not yet implemented the new project management module in the OASES 

system.  Therefore, OAS is not fully utilizing its enterprise system for grant management.   

 

The volume of Specific Fund projects creates significant project management issues and accounting complexities.  

Although OAS has made a number of improvements in this area, without a centralized system of administration, 

OAS cannot ensure that it meets the fiduciary responsibility of project managers.  To streamline accounting and 

fundraising, an alternative approach would be to create theme-based master accounts, such as for electoral observer 

missions, human rights, drug eradication, or demining. 

 

1.11  The Board reaffirms it recommendation that GS/OAS create standard requirements for each 

project agreement and create a process to ensure that agreements adhere to these require-

ments.  These standards should include such things as measurable goals and clear roles and re-

sponsibilities. 
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1.12  The Board reaffirms it recommendation that GS/OAS should develop a process to centralize 

the requirements from all project agreements and ensure that compliance with these agree-

ments is appropriately monitored.   

 

1.13  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS should implement the project man-

agement module in OASES and ensure that users are sufficiently trained in the module’s fea-

tures.  In addition, the OAS should consider the use of master accounts based on themes to re-

duce the administrative burden and streamline the fund-raising process. 

 

Current Staffing Structure 

OAS is a consensus-based organization, responsive to the evolving interests and priorities of its Member States.  

Consequently, the organization must be somewhat fluid in order to engage people to undertake shorter term pro-

jects as well as longer term initiatives. 

 

Nonetheless, the OAS as an entity, should also embody policies and practices that ensure the continuity and consis-

tency of its operations.  This core capacity serves as the foundation for the long term delivery of the OAS mandate 

and its diverse range of activities.  Moreover, this core capacity provides for sound management and the proper ex-

ercise of fiduciary responsibilities that are essential for maintaining the confidence and continuing support of the 

OAS Member States and other donors. 

 

The Board is concerned that the staffing of the OAS is predominately short-term in nature.  Although it has rules 

aimed at ensuring a substantial core of continued service (long-term) positions, three quarters of OAS staff are en-

gaged on a short-term employment basis (not including the contractor staff, which further diminishes the proportion 

of long-term staff.)  The Board believes that this situation puts OAS at risk, because a small core of staff with the 

knowledge and experience to provide for the continuity of sound and consistent operations is essentially supporting 

an increasing proportion of short-term staff.  The Board further believes this situation is a function of the uncertainty 

regarding the year-to-year cash flow liquidity problems in recent years as well as the pressure to absorb inflationary 

and other cost increases on a stagnant level of core funding.  While the OAS has sought to employ remedies, such 

as the ICR initiative, to use a small portion of Specific Funds to affect related core support costs, these measures do 

not address the more fundamental issue, namely sufficiency of amount and receipt of annual funding to ensure the 

confidence of OAS management to commit to longer term staffing. 

 

1.14  The Board recommends that GS/OAS assess the current staffing structure to ensure that 

enough emphasis is placed on hiring and retaining long-term staff. 

 

Planning for an Aging Workforce 

OAS, along with many other organizations, has an aging workforce, which will lead to a significant loss of institu-

tional knowledge as more staff retires.  GS/OAS estimated that up to 25 percent of the workforce may retire in the 

next five years.  OAS has not yet adequately focused on this issue.  However, if OAS does not begin to plan for this 

eventuality, much knowledge will be irretrievably lost.   

 

The Board believes that OAS should begin to prepare for the loss of experienced staff.  Some of the initiatives cur-

rently in process could be used, including identifying talented people to take over key positions by using the per-
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formance evaluation process.  The Board believes that OAS also should work to identify specific employees that are 

approaching retirement and talk with them about their plans and ask the employees to give ample notice of their 

departure.  OAS should also begin to assess employees that could be moved around to back-fill operations as 

needed, as well as to transfer useful organizational knowledge.  In addition, as discussed in the training section of 

this report, cross-training of individuals will be essential.   

 

1.15  The Board recommends that GS/OAS develop a strategy on how to address its aging work-

force to ensure that important institutional knowledge is not lost as long-serving experienced 

employees retire. 

 

Job Descriptions 

The Board previously recommended that job descriptions be standardized in line with the new performance evalua-

tion system based on position and grade.  Fifteen job description families were identified during 2007, and levels are 

currently being defined for each one based on the United Nation’s standards. Completion of this task will also help 

OAS to ensure that employees performing the same duties will be paid consistently, after taking locality considera-

tions into place. 

 

1.16  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS continue to standardize all job de-

scriptions based on position and grade level. 

 

Integrated Real Property Strategy 

The Board found that OAS had not invested in preserving its real property.  Currently, GS/OAS manages real prop-

erty with an estimated market value of $363 million, including buildings of historical significance. The Board believes 

it is important for OAS to maximize the potential of OAS property, and therefore it needs to implement a real prop-

erty strategy.  OAS should take advantage of its historic location on Constitution Avenue to project the culture and 

values of the Americas.  The centennial celebration for the Main Building in 2010 provides an ideal opportunity to 

focus on real property investment.  A recent report prepared by external contractors developed a long-term capital 

investment approach. 

 

An external contractor has recently completed a survey of the condition (including structural issues) of all OAS build-

ings in Washington D.C.  This assessment found that after years of chronic budget restrictions, OAS faces costs in 

excess of $40 million for the repair and upgrade of its real property.  The survey found that water infiltration and 

drainage problems in the Main Building, Museum, and Administrative Building are severe.  The survey also found 

that the Art Museum does not have adequate control over humidity, leaving the important cultural pieces in jeop-

ardy.  The survey also found that the building currently used by IADB called the Pink Palace (located at 16th Street 

and Euclid Street in Washington D.C.) has serious issues with the exterior façade and widespread water issues.    

 

There are also safety issues to consider. For instance, the survey found that in an emergency situation, all of the 

buildings are deficient in exit lighting and signage as well as smoke and fire alarm systems.  There are several steel 

stairs and balcony elements at the Pink Palace that are showing signs of failure.  This could lead to a legal liability 

for the organization in the event of personal injury.  
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The condition survey also included an assessment of opportunities to improve energy efficiency at the OAS buildings. 

For instance, the survey reported that antiquated equipment at some of the buildings leads to high energy consump-

tion.   

 

Industry standards indicate that organizations should invest approximately four percent of the replacement value of 

its buildings each year to ensure adequate upkeep.  For OAS, that would mean that approximately $8 million each 

year should be spent on facility upgrades and repairs.  However, OAS has averaged only $2.3 million per year on 

regular maintenance and repair.  This has led to a significant amount of deferred repairs that must be addressed in 

upcoming years.  If items are not repaired in a timely manner, it could lead to even more costly repairs in the fu-

ture.   

 

Currently the budget account for maintenance includes operational expenses such as mortgage payments and utili-

ties.  In fact, 88 percent of the maintenance budget was being used for operational issues.  The Board believes it is 

important to differentiate between costs related to repairs and upgrades, and operational expenses.  Therefore, it 

believes that GS/OAS should create a new budget account for real property operational expenses, and use the cur-

rent budget account related to maintenance only for maintenance funds.  This will assist the Member States to un-

derstand the amount of funds available for repair and asset preservation each year.   

 

The Board believes that this is one of the most significant challenges that OAS must address in the short-term.  

Based on its assessment of the situation, OAS should make a decision to sell the building called the Pink Palace as 

soon as possible and re-locate the Inter-American Defense Board staff to suitable accommodations.  However, this 

should only be done if the Member States can agree in advance that the proceeds will be put into a capital invest-

ment fund to address some of the serious long-term problems discussed in this section.  These funds should not be 

used to fund any operating expenditures.  In addition, the decision to sell this property should not be a factor in any 

decisions on increasing the quota assessment.  The Board strongly believes the Member States should not use this 

one-time increase in funds as justification to avoid addressing the inflationary cost increases. 

 

1.17  The Board recommends that OAS agree upon a real property and capital plan to maximize 

the potential of OAS’ historic properties.  As part of this strategy, OAS should immediately take 

action to sell the building at 16th Street and Euclid Street and to re-locate the Inter-American 

Defense Board personnel. The use of the proceeds from this sale should be restricted to capital 

investment in other existing OAS properties. Part of this plan should include opportunities for 

fundraising outside of the normal quota structure. 

 

1.18  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that the Permanent Council reevaluate its current 

process for funding maintenance issues.  The Permanent Council should assess the condition sur-

vey report prepared by external contractors and ensure that high-priority work, including issues 

related to health and safety, be funded. 

 

1.19  The Board recommends that the Permanent Council develop a strategy to fund certain en-

ergy efficient upgrades that were noted in the external contractors condition survey work.  Al-

though these improvements would need an initial investment, the cost savings created will be 

beneficial over the long-term. 
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1.20  The Board recommends that GS/OAS create a new budgetary account for operational ex-

penses related to real property, so that the funds for repairs and asset preservation are differen-

tiated. 

 

Reassessing the Procurement Process 

The Board believes that GS/OAS should reassess its process for making small procurements. Currently, the Depart-

ment of Procurement performs all procurement activity, regardless of the value of the contract.  GS/OAS should con-

sider allowing offices to have more control over small purchases from approved vendors.  Each office would have a 

better understanding of its needs, but would have to comply with rules established by the Department of Procure-

ment.  SAF would need to implement procedures to oversee this revised procurement process.  By empowering 

managers but holding them accountable, GS/OAS could create a more integrated but streamlined procurement proc-

ess.  Any assessment performed by GS/OAS would need to consider the cost of adding additional responsibilities to 

the other offices, including training. 

 

1.21  The Board recommends that GS/OAS reassess its process for making small procurements, 

to determine whether it would be reasonable to allow offices to make small purchases from ap-

proved vendors.  Any agreed-upon changes should be formalized in GS/OAS’ policies and clearly 

communicated to all employees. 

 

Contractor Oversight Process 

OAS continued to dedicate resources to resolving issues surrounding the performance contractor (CPR) process and 

other contracting vehicles used to obtain certain types of services, such as local professionals (LP) and temporary 

support personnel (TSP). Consistent with past years, OAS continued to extensively use contractors to perform rou-

tine operations.  This is a long-standing issue because the staffing levels are not adequate to fulfill mandates.   

 

The intent of the contracting process was not to supplement limited staffing, but instead to use the funds for limited 

projects or to acquire specialized technical skills.  The extent of the use of contractors was not known during 2007 

though instances were identified where purchase orders were improperly used to procure contractor services, con-

tracts were not approved prior to the contractor’s start date, and benefits were paid to contractors.  The Board also 

learned that there is no consistency in how much contractors are paid, even within one Member State.   

 

Through the STAMP process, GS/OAS is working to clearly define the various contracting vehicles used to acquire 

professional services from both individuals and companies.  HR is in the process of evaluating if and when CPRs have 

eligibility for employee benefits.  While the Board understands that contractors will probably always be utilized within 

OAS, the Board is concerned that GS/OAS does not have a clear vision of when and how they are being used.  GS/

OAS needs to complete the STAMP assessment and clearly define the entire process for using CPRs and other types 

of contractors. 

 

1.22  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS continue to strengthen the contrac-

tor oversight process and reevaluate the process for using contractors, including the extent of 

needing to use contractors and if alternate contracting vehicles would be preferable to the use of 

CPRs.  The Board also recommends that GS/OAS develop a consistent methodology to establish 

contractor pay amounts.   
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Travel Vouchers 

Currently, OAS utilizes a per diem policy for overseas travel.  This means that a certain amount of funds are pro-

vided to cover normal travel expenditures such as hotels and meals.  Even though a per diem policy is used, OAS 

requires that all expenditures incurred during travel be supported by documentation.  Other organizations, such as 

the United States Government, have found that the cost of tracking all expenditures incurred during travel actually 

exceeded the savings created from this level of review.   

 

The Board believes that GS/OAS should reassess its travel voucher policies.  It has already implemented a per diem 

policy for travel.  These amounts should be regularly reviewed and modified to better approximate the actual cost of 

traveling to each location.  Each manager could certify that the funds for travel are available and that there is a need 

for the travel.  When an employee returns from travel, the traveler would need to support any incidental expenses 

that were not included in the per diem, for instance certain types of transportation.  The manager would also need to 

certify that the employee traveled to the authorized locations.  If an employee felt that the per diem did not cover 

the valid and reasonable costs incurred during the travel, then there should be an opportunity for the employee to 

provide documentation to justify the need for additional funds.   

 

1.23  The Board recommends that GS/OAS perform a cost/benefit analysis of the current travel 

policies to determine whether it would be appropriate to modify the reporting requirements for 

travelers returning from trips.  Any agreed-upon changes should be formalized in GS/OAS’ poli-

cies and clearly communicated to all employees. 

 

In conjunction with the assessment of the current travel voucher policy, GS/OAS should ensure that an adequate 

process is implemented to ensure that all employees provide support for their official travel expenditures in a timely 

manner.  While GS/OAS has made some improvements in this area, the Board found that this issue remained unre-

solved.   

 

1.24  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS review travel expense vouchers on a 

timely basis. 

 

Training 

Human capital is one of OAS’ most significant assets.  As such, an adequate training program is important to main-

tain and upgrade the skills of OAS’ employees.  A training plan was developed and great strides were made in 2007 

to implement the plan, which significantly improved the quality of training received by GS/OAS personnel.  All meth-

ods were utilized to provide training, including internal on-line training; external vendor classroom instruction; inter-

nal train-the-trainer sessions that facilitated internal instruction; and professional certification courses.  

 

However, efforts to perform cross-training of duties were not extensively accomplished and significant technical 

training will be needed when GS/OAS implements comprehensive accounting standards.  Further internal instruction 

will be necessary on the operation of OASES as additional modules are implemented in the next year.  Continuing 

professional education will be mandatory for employees to retain the professional certifications received. 

 

1.25  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS continue to reexamine the training 

budget.  The Board encourages OAS to provide adequate OASES training, as well as cross-
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training opportunities to ensure that all key functions have adequate coverage.  GS/OAS should 

provide technical training, in particular to accounting and finance employees, in preparation for 

the implementation of new accounting standards. 

 

Web Pages 

The OAS website is the public face of the OAS, and includes substantial content. However, there are more than 250 

web pages within the website, most of which were not developed from a common design or based on any guidance 

that considers content, usability, appearance, and visibility on the Internet. This causes inconsistency in quality and  

increases the chance that conflicting or incorrect information will be included in the OAS website. 

 

OAS needs to assess the needs of the organization in providing information to the public via the website, and con-

sider feedback from its users. As the Internet has become the public’s main resource for obtaining information, it is 

essential for OAS to develop and maintain a useful and accessible website that clearly and accurately communicates 

OAS’ vision and goals, and provides beneficial information to satisfy the needs of its users. 

 

The Board also learned that OAS has 17 people employed by Specific Funds that are working on various web design 

issues.  The Board believes that if the responsibility for website maintenance issues were consolidated into GS/OAS, 

the Specific Funds would benefit from some economies of scale. 

 

1.26  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS determine an effective process for 

consolidating its web pages and design parameters to standardize presentation and content. 

 

1.27  The Board recommends that GS/OAS work with the project managers to consolidate the 

responsibilities for development and maintenance of web pages. 

 

Control Environment 

Internal control is a major part of managing an organization.  It comprises the plans, methods, and procedures used 

to meet missions, goals, and objectives.  Internal control also serves as the first line of defense in safeguarding as-

sets and preventing and detecting errors. 

 

National Offices 

The Board, the external financial statement auditor, the Office of Inspector General (OIG), and GS/OAS manage-

ment have previously identified concerns with the control environment at the National Offices.  OAS is working to 

coordinate and reassess the role of the National Offices to ensure they are meeting OAS’ intended goals.  OAS fo-

cused on opportunities to improve communication and oversight during 2007 and also increased site visits to key 

offices.  OAS is also planning on developing clear objectives on what each office will be expected to do to represent 

the OAS in the Member State.   

 

Although OAS has made progress, more needs to be done.  It needs to consider the internal controls in place at the 

National Offices to ensure that they are appropriate for the current level of staffing.  For instance, OIG identified a 

number of internal control issues at National Offices during 2007, including weaknesses in such areas as petty cash, 

cash receipts, purchases, vehicle use, and expenses.   
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The Board is concerned with the inability to ensure proper separation of duties at the National Offices.  For instance, 

one employee at each office signs checks and maintains accounting records, with minimal oversight from Headquar-

ters.  While the Board did not find any evidence of fraudulent activities, the lack of separation of duties is certainly a 

risk indicator for fraud.  Consequently, OAS needs to implement stronger compensating controls, including additional 

site visits by GS/OAS and independent and timely bank reconciliations performed by DBFS.  

 

In addition, GS/OAS should assess the staffing plans for National Offices, taking into account Specific Fund projects.  

Presently, each National Office is mandated to have the same number of employees funded by the Regular Fund, 

regardless of the workload.   

 

1.28  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS ensure that each National Office has 

a reasonable staffing level based on workload and that an appropriate methodology to monitor 

internal controls at the National Offices is established.   

  

Vendor Listings 

There is a formal vendor listing in the OASES system.  In order for a requisition to be processed, the vendor name 

must already be in the vendor listing.  During the 2006 meeting, the Board determined that there was no formal 

process to ascertain that new or existing vendors were valid or to remove vendors no longer needed from the sys-

tem.  This issue increases the risk that unauthorized disbursements and misappropriations of cash would not be 

identified and prevented.  During 2007, GS/OAS took some action to remove inactive or duplicate vendors from the 

system.  However, it has not fully corrected the deficiencies in this area.   

 

1.29  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS improve controls over approved ven-

dor listings.  This should include developing a formal process to ascertain that new and existing 

vendors are valid.    

 

Information Technology System 

The Department of Information Technology made progress in ensuring data integrity in OASES during 2007 by im-

plementing modules and shutting-down systems previously used to manage the data, restricting access of data in 

OASES to appropriate employees, upgrading the Oracle version of OASES, establishing network policies for OAS 

server use, and improving system access controls. Additional modules have yet to be implemented and data mi-

grated to the new Oracle version is scheduled to be put into production in May 2008.  

 

DBFS is addressing data integrity issues from the reporting aspect by working to create a chart of accounts including 

a definition of what each account means.  Instances occurred where people entered transactions incorrectly because 

they did not understand how things should be reported.  In addition, DBFS believes that it will be important to inte-

grate some type of controls in Oracle that can assist users to validate that the data was entered properly. 

 

The Department of Information Technology made progress in implementing a contingency plan.  A back-up site in 

the United States has been established to store information, a location to serve as an off-site operational facility has 

been selected, and additional services from commercial companies with back-up server capacities have been re-

searched. Testing will need to be performed after all phases of the contingency plan have been established. 
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1.30  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS implement a plan to improve the 

data integrity of the OASES system through implementing and integrating modules, educating 

users, and by designing system controls for data validation purposes. 

 

1.31  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS implement and test an appropriate 

contingency plan. 

 

Accountable Advances 

Accountable advances are provided to Project Coordinators to fund certain costs during the implementation of spe-

cific projects.  GS/OAS regulations require that supporting documentation related to accountable advances be pro-

vided within 15 working days following the completion of project activity.   

 

The Board found that GS/OAS needs to improve controls over accountable advances.  For instance, the written poli-

cies and procedures need to be improved, and GS/OAS should improve its oversight process to ensure that support-

ing documentation related to accountable advances are provided in a timely manner.   

 

1.32  The Board recommends that GS/OAS assess current controls related to accountable ad-

vances and make any necessary changes to policies and procedures to ensure an appropriate 

level of control. 

 

Departure Process 

OAS utilizes a dated manual checklist process to determine if departing employees have returned equipment and 

badges, have outstanding advances, and have access rights terminated. There is no automated way to determine if 

employees owe balances to OAS (travel or accountable advances requiring repayment) prior to issuing the employee 

their final payroll payment. The external auditors found that several outstanding receivable balances were due from 

long-departed employees, and took measures to write-off the receivables. OAS should consider developing a process 

that effectively ensures that departing employees have appropriately returned all OAS property, repaid any out-

standing debts, and have access rights terminated timely.  

 

1.33  The Board recommends that GS/OAS improve the employee departure process to ensure 

that assets have been returned, no debts are due to OAS, and that proper access rights have 

been terminated on a timely basis. 

 

Performance Evaluation and Award Process 

OAS implemented a new performance system, and trained and converted about 80 percent of employees to use the 

new evaluation process. OAS needs to convert all employees to be on a consistent evaluation system, but should 

also consider putting a process in place to monetarily recognize outstanding performance. Currently there is no 

mechanism available to provide financial rewards to high-performing employees as recognition of providing a quality 

of service that exceeds their peers. Conversely, OAS should consider developing guidelines for use in its new per-

formance system to effectively acknowledge non-performing employees in a manner that provides them with assis-

tance to improve their performance or be terminated. Analysis of performance ratings should be performed and con-

sidered as a means to identify high-performing individuals that would be suitable candidates to advance into man-

agement positions that will likely be vacated in the future due to retirements. 
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1.34  The Board recommends that GS/OAS require all employees to be evaluated using the new 

performance evaluation system.  Options should be explored to provide rewards to high-

performing employees. 

 

Inventory Tracking 

The Board found that inventory tracking remains an issue of concern.  Both the external financial statement auditor 

and the Inspector General noted issues related to the inadequacy of GS/OAS’ inventory records.  For instance, the 

OIG noted that not all inventory transactions were recorded in a timely manner and data integrity was not ensured, 

complete instructions were not provided on conducting inventories, the new fixed assets module was not effectively 

integrated with the procurement module, and inventory items were not properly stored and safeguarded.  During 

audits of National Offices, the OIG often found that the inventory lists were not accurate.   

 

GS/OAS did take some steps during the year to improve its controls over fixed assets.  For instance, it performed a 

physical inventory of fixed assets in 2007.  However, many exceptions were noted during the inventory, and GS/OAS 

is still working to address these exceptions.  In addition, the Oracle fixed assets module was recently implemented, 

which should improve the standardization of transactional data.   

 

While these improvements are beneficial, the Board believes that more work is needed in this area to ensure that 

controls over fixed assets are adequate.  This internal control weakness could lead to misplaced or misappropriated 

assets.  Protection of assets, including confirmed existence and custody, is a fundamental fiduciary responsibility.  

The Board believes it is unacceptable that inventory tracking remains a chronic issue. 

 

1.35  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that GS/OAS improve the reconciliation of fixed 

asset tracking records and the inventory accounts. 

 

Ownership of Assets 

Many projects funded by contributions require certain types of equipment to complete the work.  The Board was in-

formed that Specific Fund agreements include a clause that any assets acquired during projects should be given to 

either the host country or another non-profit organization.  Currently, GS/OAS includes these assets in its financial 

management system.  When a project is completed, GS/OAS is supposed to be notified to remove the assets from 

the financial management system.  The Board is concerned that this mechanism is not always very effective, and 

therefore, some assets related to Specific Funds may remain in the system after the project is complete.  However, 

the Board is also concerned that the ownership of the asset is not clearly determined.  Although the Board believes 

that some process is needed to track the assets related to Specific Funds, until a legal opinion is obtained related to 

these assets, it is possible that OAS should not include them as assets. 

 

1.36  The Board recommends that GS/OAS work with the Department of Legal Services, to deter-

mine whether OAS owns assets acquired by Specific Fund contributions that will be donated to 

another recipient at the end of the Project.  If OAS does not own these assets, they should be 

removed from the assets account in the financial management system.   However, a methodology 

should be developed so that these assets can be tracked.  If OAS does own the assets, GS/OAS 

should develop a better mechanism to ensure that they are removed from the system when the 

assets transfer to a new recipient.   

SECTION I 
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Personally Identifiable Information 

The Board was concerned that GS/OAS had not focused on protecting personally identifiable information (PII).  PII is 

any piece of information which can potentially be used to uniquely identify, contact, or locate a single person.  It is 

extremely important for organizations to adequately protect PII, as information technology has made it much easier 

to collect information that can be exploited to steal the identification of a person.   

 

1.37  The Board recommends that GS/OAS develop a process to adequately protect personally 

identifiable information. 

SECTION I 
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CHAPTER 2 
COMMENTS RELATING TO OTHER OAS AND RELATED ENTITIES 
 
The Board is pleased to note that OAS has arranged audits of the various entities within the OAS organizational struc-

ture that have material amounts of OAS resources.  Independent audits provide information and assurances that con-

trols are in place to protect OAS resources.  In the complex organizational structure that constitutes the OAS, manage-

ment attention needs to be focused on all major entities or parts of entities that manage material amounts of OAS re-

sources.   

 

As discussed earlier, the external auditors expressed unqualified (“clean”) opinions, the highest level audit results, on 

the following 2007 financial statements of OAS entities: 

 

• Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (Rowe Pan American) 

• Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund (Rowe Memorial) 

• Medical Benefits Trust Fund (Medical Benefits) 

• Trust for the Americas (The Trust) 

• Inter-American Defense Board Fund (IADB) 

• Retirement and Pension Fund (Pension) 

STATUS OF RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE 
BOARD’S 2006 REPORT  

In its 2006 Report, the Board discussed two issues related 

to the operation of other OAS and related entities and pro-

vided specific recommendations to address them.  The 

Board is satisfied with the progress made by these entities 

and GS/OAS related to these issues and is therefore clos-

ing both of these recommendations. 

 

 

The Rowe Pan American Fund is a trust fund established to 

provide loans to students from Member States, other than 

residents and citizens of the United States, and to make 

loans to OAS employees for educational and emergency 

purposes.  Student loans are interest-free and repayments commence after students have completed their courses 

of study.  Loans to employees bear interest rates approximately one percent below the prevailing prime rate in the 

United States.  Employees repay these loans through payroll deductions.     

 

Main Building 
Aztec Patio 

LEO S. ROWE PAN AMERICAN FUND 
(ROWE PAN AMERICAN) 

Main Building 
Aztec Patio 
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New loans to students decreased by about three percent to $227,275 in 2007 compared to $233,762 in 2006.  The 

amount of loans collected decreased from $766,725 in 2006 to $608,954 in 2007.  New loans to employees for edu-

cation or emergencies increased from $65,178 in 2006 to $91,838 in 2007.   

 

Total assets of the Fund increased by about four percent from $14 million in 2006 to $14.5 million in 2007.  The 

main assets of the Fund as of December 31, 2007, were financial investments (89 percent), loans to students (six 

percent) and loans to OAS employees (one percent). 

 

Table 1 summarizes the financial results of the Rowe Pan American Fund for 2007 and 2006. 

 

 

The assets of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund have been accumulated principally from contributions received from 

Dr. Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General of the Pan-American Union.  These assets are held in trust to provide 

certain welfare benefits for OAS employees.   

 

Table 2 summarizes the financial results of the Rowe Memorial Fund for 2007 and 2006. 

 

The Medical Benefits Trust Fund provides medical benefits to OAS staff members.  Fund activity is limited to paying 

covered employees’ health claims.  Claim adjudication is handled by Carefirst Blue Cross Blue Shield.  As of Decem-

SECTION I 
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Table 1 
Rowe Pan American Fund Financial Results 
(in thousands) 

ROWE MEMORIAL BENEFIT FUND (ROWE MEMORIAL) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Dividends and Income 9,497$              10,911$            
Subsidies (2,527)               -                       
Award and other expenses -                       (15,300)             
Technical services (1,850)               (5,725)               
  Change in net assets 5,120                (10,114)             
Net assets, beginning of year 238,138            248,252            
Net assets, end of year 243,258$          238,138$          

Table 2 
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund Financial Results 

MEDICAL BENEFITS TRUST FUND (MEDICAL BENEFITS) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Income 1,081$              1,316$              
Expenses (492)                  (386)                  
  Change in net assets 589                   930                   
Net assets, beginning of year 13,859              12,928              
Net assets, end of year 14,448$            13,858$            
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ber 31, 2007, total assets of the Trust were $22.5 million (a 15 percent increase) compared to $19.5 million in 

2006. 

 

Table 3 summarizes the financial results of the Medical Trust Fund for 2007 and 2006. 

 

 

The Trust for the Americas is a not-for-profit organization that works to expand hemispheric cooperation and en-

hance economic development.  Resources have been provided by contributions from corporate donors and Federal 

grants.  OAS supports the Trust with the provision of financial, material, and staff support.  As of December 31, 

2007, the Trust for the Americas held $1,874,771 in total assets compared to $840,465 in 2006 (a 123 percent in-

crease). 

 

Table 4 summarizes the financial results of The Trust for 2007 and 2006. 

The Board was very interested in the various initiatives being undertaken by the Trust.  However, the Board learned 

that the Trust has not completed its strategic planning initiative.  The Board believes that it is very important for this 

vital organization to have a clear plan for the future.   

 

2.1  The Board recommends that the Trust for the Americas completes its strategic planning ini-

tiative and develop a strategic plan that can be used as a guide for future initiatives and contin-

ued growth. 
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Table 3 
Medical Trust Fund Financial Results 
(in thousands) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Income 12,233$            12,419$            
Expenses (9,338)               (8,199)               
   Change in net assets 2,895                4,221                
Net assets, beginning of year 18,954              14,733              
Net assets, end of year 21,849$            18,954$            

TRUST FOR THE AMERICAS (THE TRUST) 

Table 4 
The Trust Financial Results 
(in thousands) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Income 5,117$              2,626$              
Expenses: Including realized and unrealized losses on investments (5,094)               (2,549)               

Change in unrestricted net Assets 24                     77                     
Temporarily restricted contributions 990                   124                   
   Change in net assets 1,014                201                   
Net assets, beginning of year 825                   623                   
Net assets, end of year 1,839$              824$                 
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INTER-AMERICAN DEFENSE BOARD FUND (IADB)  

 

 

IADB was established in 1942 and is comprised of military officers representing the highest echelons of their nation’s 

defense establishments.  The Board’s expenses were primarily for four functions:  the Council of Delegates, the Sub 

Secretariat for Advisory Services, the Inter-American Defense College, and administrative support.  In 2007, IADB’s 

net assets decreased to $411,550 from the net amount of assets in 2006 of $531,397.  The total amount of revenue 

decreased from $5.5 million in 2006 to $5.2 million in 2007.  In addition, the total amount of expenses decreased 

from $5.7 million in 2006 compared to $5.2 million in 2007.   

 

Table 5 summarizes the financial results of the IADB for 2007 and 2006. 

In 2006, by OAS resolution, IADB became an entity of the OAS, although the two maintain separate management 

structures. GS/OAS and IADB should gain a better understanding on what the change in status means for the man-

agement structure of IADB.  If GS/OAS were to provide administrative support to IADB, it could lead to economies of 

scale. Because IADB has few staff, it is difficult for them to develop the expertise in certain technical areas, such as 

financial management, that is available in GS/OAS.  This change might also improve internal controls. With such a 

small staff, it is virtually impossible for IADB to maintain a proper separation of duties. 

 

2.2  The Board recommends that the Inter-American Defense Board and GS/OAS work together 

to develop an appropriate administrative support structure that will allow for economies of scale 

and to take advantage of GS/OAS administrative support expertise. 

 

 

 

This fund includes both the Retirement and Pension Fund and the Provident Plan.  The Pension Plan is a contributory 

retirement plan maintained for the benefit of most staff members of the OAS.  The Provident Plan is a contributory 

savings plan established for the benefit of employees’ under short term contracts.  The amount of net assets avail-

able for benefits slightly decreased from $302.6 million in 2006 to $302.5 million in 2007. 

 

Table 6 summarizes the financial results of the Pension Fund for 2007 and 2006. 
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Table 5 
IADB Financial Results 
(in thousands) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Income including net assets released from restrictions 5,156$              5,513$              
Expenses (5,207)               (5,701)               
   Change in net assets (51)                   (188)                  
Non-operating income -                       158                   
Net assets, beginning of year 355                   385                   
Net assets, end of year 304$                 355$                 

RETIREMENT AND PENSION FUND (PENSION) 



GS/OAS - ANNUAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

35 
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Table 6 
Pension Fund Financial Results 
(in thousands) 

2007 2006
Account/Line Item:

Income 35,795$            50,881$            
Expenses (35,939)             (54,345)             
     Change in net assets (144)                  (3,464)               
Net assets, beginning of year 302,636            306,100            
Net assets, end of year 302,492$          302,636$          
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CHAPTER 3 
COMMENTS RELATING TO THE OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 
This Chapter discusses issues related to the OIG.  The status and role of OIG within OAS is important to the Board 

since OIG is an essential continuing safeguard to assess and maintain the internal control environment.  Under Execu-

tive Order 95-05, the Internal Audit Function of the General Secretariat and the Office of the Inspector General, OIG is 

charged with the responsibility of assisting the Secretary General and the governing bodies to monitor various levels of 

management with respect to the General Secretariat’s and OAS’ programs and resources, and adherence to the legal 

system governing them. 

 

• Status of Recommendations from the Board’s 2006 Report 

• OIG Staffing and Budget 

• Training and Professional Development 

• Professional Standards Review 

• Cooperation and Coordination 

• 2007 OIG Audit Work Including Status of OIG Recommendations 

• 2008 OIG Work Plan 

STATUS OF RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOARD’S 2006 REPORT 

In its 2006 report, the Board discussed several issues related to OIG operations and provided specific recommenda-

tions to address them.  The Board is satisfied with the progress made by OIG in implementing its recommendations 

despite limited resources.  The Board is closing one recommendation that it made in its 2006 report.  Three of the 

recommendations remain open, although the Board has revised some of these to accommodate changing circum-

stances.   

 

 

OIG staff levels improved slightly during 

2007. All eight of OIG’s positions were 

filled (although two of the positions were 

filled in 2008).  In addition to the Inspec-

tor General, OIG has three senior auditor 

positions, one junior auditor, two train-

ees, and one administrative assistant.  

The administrative assistant position is 

funded by Specific Funds.   

 

Although the staffing level has improved, 

the Board believes that OIG may still be 

OIG STAFFING AND BUDGET 

General Secretariat 
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understaffed, especially considering the numerous requests it receives for assistance.  OIG’s limited resources could 

still be a factor impacting adequate response to OAS audit needs.  Given the importance of the work performed by 

OIG to ensure a sound internal control environment and the importance of obtaining timely audit results, it is essen-

tial to adequately staff OIG.   

 

The Board understands the harsh realities of OAS’ budget.  Therefore, it recommends that OAS take action on a rec-

ommendation made last year to provide some funding to OIG from the ICR initiative.  Although GS/OAS and OIG 

have discussed this opportunity, no conclusions have been reached on how to implement this.  

 

3.1  The Board reaffirms it recommendation that GS/OAS, in conjunction with the Office of In-

spector General, develop a methodology to ensure appropriate indirect cost recovery funds are 

provided for audit oversight activities. 

 

 

OIG’s internal policies require OIG staff to obtain at least 80 hours of continuing education over each two-year pe-

riod.  A minimum of 20 hours must be done each year.  The IG indicated that OIG’s 2007 annual budget of approxi-

mately $11,000 had increased approximately $3,000 from 2006.  In 2007, in addition to the in-house training of-

fered to all GS/OAS staff on such issues as OASES, OIG employees took a number of different courses including ones 

related to audit evidence and writing audit reports.   

    

The IG has developed a list of courses for its staff, including interviewing techniques and fundamentals of auditing.  

However, OIG can not fund all of this planned training.  The Department of Human Resources indicated that it might 

be able to provide some additional funding to OIG for some additional training. 

 

3.2  The Board reaffirms its recommendation that the Office of Inspector General’s budget be 

sufficient to obtain training that meets minimum professional requirements. 

 

 

The General Secretariat’s Executive Order 95-05 makes reference to the need for the Office of the Secretary General 

to provide for a comprehensive evaluation or peer review of the internal audit function conducted every three years 

by independent auditors from outside OAS.  The independent auditors should report on compliance in accordance 

with the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.  No evaluation has been performed or sched-

uled, and no funds have been budgeted for this purpose.   

 

While the IG should continue pursuing funding for this initiative, and should consider working with another interna-

tional organization in the Washington D.C. area, OAS might also consider revising the internal policies to comply 

with the internal auditing standards.  The Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing requires that a 

peer review be done every five years rather than every three years.  Considering the limited budget of the organiza-

tion, it is more likely that this initiative will be funded if it is scheduled less often.   

SECTION I 
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TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS REVIEW 



GS/OAS - ANNUAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

39 

3.3  The Board reaffirms its recommendation of the need for a peer review evaluation to be per-

formed.  The Board recommends that the Office of Inspector General include this item in the an-

nual budget request and recommends that the requirement be properly funded.  However, OAS 

should also consider revising the internal policies to require a peer review every five years rather 

than every three years. 

 

 

The Board was pleased with the continued strong cooperation between OIG and GS/OAS.  The Inspector General 

continues to regularly consult with management on high-risk issues, reviews draft policies and procedures, and at-

tends various OAS meetings related to business processes.  The Board was also pleased to note beneficial coopera-

tion between the OIG and the financial statement auditors.  The Board encourages all parties to maintain this open 

and constructive working relationship. 

 

 

During 2007, OIG worked on 10 audits, one inspection, and four memorandum reports.  Not all of these reports 

have been issued in final.  These reports contain a total of 53 recommendations (34 considered high risk and 19 

considered medium risk).  OIG reported that as of the date of this report, 40 of the recommendations were in the 

process of being implemented and 13 recommendations had been implemented.  According to OIG, 21 recommen-

dations from 2006 were also still in process.  Table 1 outlines the work performed by OIG in 2007 and the recom-

mendations for each report by risk level. 

The Board recognizes OIG’s continuing achievements despite limited resources, and encourages it to continue its 

ongoing audit follow-up process, so that adequate action is taken on open recommendations. 

SECTION I 
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COOPERATION AND COORDINATION 

2007 OIG AUDIT WORK INCLUDING STATUS OF OIG RECOMMENDATIONS 

Table 1 
Summary of OIG Reports and Recommendations for 2007 

High Medium Low Total
AUDIT-01 Sep. 2007 Risk Assessment of the Procurement, Disbursement, and Payroll Processes at 

Headquarters and the National Offices Managed by the Secretariat for 
Administration and Finance

- - - -

AUDIT-02 Dec. 2007 Remote Blind Penetration Analysis of the Internet Attachment Environment 4 - - 4
AUDIT-03 Dec. 2007 Remote Seeded Penetration Analysis of the Internet Attachment Environment 1 - - 1
AUDIT-04 Dec. 2007 Accountable Advances Managed by DBFS 6 1 - 7
AUDIT-05 DRAFT Inventory of GS/OAS Fixed Assets Recorded for the Year Ended Dec. 31, 2007 8 - - 8

AUDIT-06 Dec. 2007 Implementation of the Strategic Action Program for the Bermejo River Binational 
Basin Managed by the Department of Sustainable Development

1 - - 1

AUDIT-07 Dec. 2007 GS/OAS Office in Venezuela 3 1 - 4
AUDIT-08 Dec. 2007 GS/OAS Office in Guatemala and Selected Projects 4 2 - 6
AUDIT-09 Dec. 2007 GS/OAS Office in Guyana - 3 - 3
AUDIT-10 Dec. 2007 GS/OAS Office in Nicaragua and Selected Projects - 4 - 4
INSP-01 Dec. 2007 Emergency and Petty Cash Funds at Headquarters 1 - - 1
INVEST-01 Mar. 2008 Report on the Complaint of an Employee 3 - - 3
MEMO 54-07 Jun. 2007 Employees Hired at a Higher Step on Initial Appointments During 2006 and 2007 - - - -
MEMO 57-07 Jul. 2007 Review of GS/OAS Office in Suriname 1 1 - 2
MEMO 100-07 Sep. 2007 OIG Observation of the Bidding Process on August 15, 2007 2 7 - 9

34 19 - 53

Recommendations

TOTAL

Report Number Date Report Title
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The IG presented the Board with its tentative 2008 audit work plan.  Annually the IG performs a risk assessment to 

identify areas to audit.  Because of the limited resources, the IG must prioritize the work performed.  During the 

planning process, the IG considers recommendations made by the Board of External Auditors; resolutions from 

Member States; referrals from other sources; and areas internally identified as high risk.  For instance, the IG indi-

cated that, in her opinion, some of the high risk areas for GS/OAS in 2007 are data integrity, internal control at Na-

tional Offices, GS/OAS oversight of the National Offices, implementation of the ICR initiative, and the move to re-

sults based performance.   

 

The IG also tries to audit each National Office on a cyclical basis, and will therefore choose ones that have not been 

reviewed in some time.  This is consistent with a recommendation made by the Board in 2002.  For 2008, nine of the 

15 audits planned (60 percent) relate to National Offices.   

 

OIG periodically gets special requests for audits or investigations that must be performed.  Sometimes, due to lim-

ited staffing, other ongoing work will be delayed to address these special requests.   

 

The Board supports and agrees with the OIG’s planned audit activities for 2008.  However, it would like to recom-

mend that the OIG consider adding an audit of potential duplicate payments to its audit plan.  There are a number of 

standardized audit programs available on this topic because of recent interest within the United States Government.  

The Board encourages OIG to continue to focus its limited resources on areas with a high degree of risk and/or those 

with the highest potential for increasing efficiency, economy, and effectiveness within OAS.   

 

3.4  The Board recommends that OIG consider performing an audit of duplicate payments during 

2008. 
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Original Modified
Appropriations

Personnel 51,236.3$  53,246.3$   
Non-personnel 30,263.7    31,180.8     

81,500.0$  84,427.1$   

Sources of Financing
Quota Assessment 75,894.0$  75,894.0$   
Over quota commitments 1,383.2      1,383.2       
Administrative and Technical Support 2,722.8      a 2,722.8       
Other Income 1,500.0      b 1,500.0       
Reserve Sub-fund -            2,927.1       

81,500.0$  84,427.1$   

a) ICR collection from Specific Funds ($2,532.3) and FEMCIDI ($190.5).

b) Includes income from rental space, interest and miscellaneous revenue.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 
 
This section presents an overview of the financial results of the General Secretariat and a status report on other man-

agement activities.  Where possible, information is presented on a comparative basis. 

BUDGET EXECUTION OF THE 2007 REGULAR FUND PROGRAM-BUDGET 

Approved Levels 

For 2007, through resolution AG/RES. 2257, 

the General Secretariat was authorized to exe-

cute up to $81.5 million for Regular Fund ac-

tivities.  Budgetary appropriations were further 

supplemented through resolution CP/RES.911 

to a level of up to $84.4 million.  Table 1 pre-

sents the 2007 approved and modified appro-

priations and corresponding sources of financ-

ing. 

 

Budgetary Execution 

At the end of the fiscal period, $78.7 million 

(93.3%) of the approved budget had been 

committed. Personnel obligations amounted to 

$52.6 million, out of which $52.5 million 

(99.9%) were expended. Non-personnel obli-

gations amounted to $26.1 million, out of 

which $24.0 million (92.0%)  were expended.  

Approximately $5.7 million (6.7%) remained 

unobligated.  Figure 1 presents budgetary exe-

cution and  the unobligated appropriations 

segregated by personnel and non-personnel. 

 

 

Unobligated Appropriations 

Most of the unobligated appropriations were as 

follows:  

 

• Chapter 3 (Autonomous and/or Decentralized Entities) ($5.3 million). This amount remained unobligated due to 

the continued review of new fellowships by the Selection Committee (approximately $5.2 million) and $47.0 

thousand corresponding to the Office of the Inspector General. 

Table 1 
2007 Appropriations and Financing 
(in thousands) 

Figure 1 
Budgetary Execution by Object of Expenditure 
As of December 31, 2007 (in thousands) 

Modified Appropriation 84,427.1$   100.0%

Budgetary Execution 78,748.6$   93.3%
Unobligated Appropriation 5,678.5      6.7%

84,427.1$   100.0%

Personnel 
Non-Personnel

67%

33%

99%

1%
0%

10%
20%
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100%

Budgetary Execution Unobligated Appropriation

$78.7 $5.7
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• Chapter 2 (Assistant Secretary Gen-

eral) ($172.2 thousand). These re-

sources correspond mainly to Subpro-

gram Office of Conferences and Meetings 

(21B) ($75.4 thousand) and Un-

programmed Meetings (21C) ($61.7 

thousand). 

 

• Chapter 9 (Basic Infrastructure and 

Common Costs) ($62.7 thousand). These 

resources correspond mainly to Termina-

tions and Repatriations (91H) ($49.5 

thousand). 

 

Part of the 2007 unobligated appropria-

tions have been allowed to expense 

through 2008.  Pursuant to AG/RES. 

2353 (XXXVII-O/07), the Human Devel-

opment Fund Committee (31E) will con-

tinue spending on fellowships, in 2008 

and in subsequent years, all appropria-

tions approved for OAS scholarships un-

der resolution AG/RES. 2257 (XXXVI-

O/06) that have neither been appropri-

ated nor spent in 2007 as a result of the 

pause mandated in the latter resolution. 

   

Figure 2 shows the level of budgetary execution by Chapter, broken down by personnel and non-personnel catego-

ries, and unobligated appropriation, as of December 31, 2007.   

 

Based on the trend of the budgetary execution throughout the year, some programs required additional resources to 

cover their operational costs. The programs identified that required a significant amount of additional resources 

were: Board of External Auditors (31F), Recruitment and Transfers (91G), Home Leave (91I) and Education and Lan-

guage Allowance, Medical Examinations (91J). 

 

 

 

Quota Payments 

OAS General Standards require Member States to pay their quota assessment in full on January 1st of the applicable 

year; otherwise, they are required to negotiate a payment plan with the GS/OAS. Member States that pay their 

quota assessment by April 30 of the corresponding year are entitled to the following discounts: 3% of the amount 

Figure 2 
Budgetary Execution by Chapter 
As of December 31, 2007 (in percentages and millions)  

REGULAR FUND 

SECTION II 
MD&A 

Unobligated

Legend: Execution Appropriation

Ch 3 - Autonomous and/or Decentralized Entities 11.1$              5.3$                

Ch 2 - Assistant Secretary General 19.3                0.2                  

Ch 9 - Basic Infrastructure and Common Costs 11.7                0.1                  

Ch 7 - Executive Secretariat for Integral Development 8.1                  -                   

Ch 8 - Secretariat for Administration and Finance 10.4                -                   

Ch 5 - Secretariat for Multidimensional Security 3.7                  -                   

Ch 1 - Secretary General 8.0                  -                   

Ch 4 - Department of International Legal Affairs 2.3                  -                   

Ch 6 - Secretariat for Political Affairs 4.2                  -                   

78.7$              * 5.7$                *

Personnel

Non-Personnel

Unobligated Appropriation

* Differs from the sum of individual figures due to rounding.
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paid by January 31, and 2% of the amount paid 

between February and April 30. In 2007, $431 

thousand were credited in discounts to Member 

States for prompt payment, applied to their 2008 

assessment. 

 

At the beginning of 2007, the GS/OAS had $89.8 

million in quota receivables, including $12.5 mil-

lion in quotas in arrears.  By year-end, the GS/

OAS received $78.9 million towards this receiv-

able.  From this amount, $8.5 million were ap-

plied to quotas in arrears. 

 

Quota payments to the Regular Fund (current and 

arrears) have experienced a slight decline in com-

parison to the increasing trend over the past 

three years.  Quota payments in 2007, current 

and prior-year balances (Figure 3) was $78.9 mil-

lion, representing $1.0 million less, or 1.3%, com-

pared to 2006 ($79.9 million). 

 

The quota assessment to Member States was in-

creased by $3.6 million in 2007 to $77.3 million 

(Figure 4). Payments for current period assess-

ment also increased in 2007 over 2006 levels. 

Current quota payments in 2007 reached 91.1% 

of quota assessment, representing an increase of 

2.1% over prior year payments.  The gap of un-

paid quota assessment of 8.9% has been covered 

by quota payments in arrears.   

 

A decline in quota payments in arrears occurred 

during 2007 as compared to 2006 (Figure 5). 

Payments of balances in arrears were $8.5 million 

in 2007 compared to $14.3 million in 2006.  

These figures represent 68.0% and 76.9% of the  

balances in arrears, respectively.  Nevertheless, 

the dollar amount of quotas in arrears has been 

declining since 2004.  For 2008, the opening bal-

ance of outstanding quotas was $10.9 million.   

 

At year-end, there were thirty “current” Member States, one Member State “considered current” and three Member 

States “not current” with respect to payments of their assessment to the Regular Fund. 

 

Figure 3 
Quota Receivables versus Quota Payments (current and arrears) 
As of December 31 (in millions) 
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Figure 4 
Quota Assessment versus Quota Payments 
As of December 31 (in millions) 

Figure 5 
Quota in Arrears versus Prior Years Quota Payments 
As of December 31 (in millions) 
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a) Includes a restricted balance of $3.0 million for Fellowships.

b) Includes a restricted balance of $4.1 million for Fellowships and $5.3 million to cover 2008 budget financing.
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a b

Regular Fund Financial Position 

As of December 31, 2007, the net change of the Regular Fund resulted in a $2.0 million positive balance in operating 

activities (Figure 6). Together with 2007 beginning balance of $13.8 million, yielded a positive Fund Balance of $15.8 

million for 2007. This $15.8 million Fund Balance is divided in two categories: Restricted Balance ($9.4 million) and 

Unrestricted Balance ($6.4 million). The Restricted Balance is composed of two categories: 1) reserved for fellow-

ships ($4.1 million, from 2006 and 2007 unused appropriations); and, 2) $5.3 million ($2.7 million as an exception 

to Article 72(b) of the General Standards and $2.6 million from 2007 unobligated appropriations) to cover 2008 

budget financing pursuant to AG/RES. 1 (XXXIII-E/07). 

 

 

New Developments 

SEDI (Executive Secretariat for Integral Development) prepared 

the “Preliminary Programming Proposal for Development Activities” 

for the 2007 FEMCIDI programming cycle.  There has been signifi-

cant interest from institutions of Member States to receive funding 

from FEMCIDI 2007 resources.   Member States have submitted 

their proposals on behalf of the institutions requesting funding.  

The projects included in the Preliminary Proposal place a special 

emphasis on the most urgent needs of Member States, especially 

the lesser developed countries. 

 

A consultant was hired to train the FEMCIDI team in project design and Result-based-management and to help the 

team review projects.  Onsite training and support was provided by FEMCIDI to the project presenters in Nicaragua, 

Honduras, Bolivia, Colombia, Haiti and St Kitts and Nevis. 

 

Figure 6 
Increases, Decreases, Net Change and Fund Balance 
From January 1 to December 31 (in millions) 

FEMCIDI 

Table 2 
Project Proposals by Sector 

Sectors
Number of 

Projects
Trade 10
Social Development 17
Education 34
Culture 6
Science & Technology 19
Democracy 8
Tourism 13
Sustainable Development 18
Total 125
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Member State Amount

Antigua and Barbuda  $          6,988 
Argentina            50,031 
Bahamas, Commonwealth of            20,000 
Barbados            16,400 
Belize              7,800 
Bolivia            29,100 
Brazil          433,311 
Chile          110,000 
Colombia          104,061 
Costa Rica            32,900 
Dominica, Commonwealth of              5,100 
Dominican Republic            35,000 
Ecuador            16,678 
El Salvador            20,000 
Grenada              6,000 
Guatemala            25,128 
Guyana              3,260 
Haiti              5,000 
Honduras              8,360 
Jamaica            39,800 
Mexico          500,000 
Nicaragua            18,000 
Panama            39,600 
Paraguay              2,980 
Peru            55,000 
St. Kitts and Nevis              5,100 
St. Lucia              7,600 
St. Vincent and the Grenadines              5,100 
Suriname            10,000 
Trinidad and Tobago            31,200 
United States       4,702,500 
Venezuela          155,980 

 $   6,507,977 

895.8

639.9

3,010.3

1,088.1

1,559.3
1,931.2

1,456.1

474.0

547.4

367.3

514.5
697.0

270.4

2,105.7

921.0

2,820.5

2,012.4

747.9

837.3

988.0

2004 2005 2006 2007

Education Social Development
Sustainable Development Others
Science & Technology

The Executive Secretariat has modified the formats for project 

presentation to follow the Results-based-Management Model 

and will provide support to the institutions in preparing their 

projects according to these standards. Support will include 

revision of the projects by external project design, monitoring 

and evaluation experts, as well as travel by SEDI staff to some 

of the Member States.  

 

Pledges and Payments 

Member States have been diligent in meeting the new July 

31st deadline for voluntary pledges.  Major contributions have 

been from the United States, Mexico and Brazil.  

 

At year-end, 33 Member States have made pledges to the 

Fund totaling $6,528,357.  As compared to prior year pledges 

($5,983,146), there has been an overall increase of 9.1% in 

voluntary pledges, with noticeable increases from Brazil and 

Argentina. Payments received during 2007 of $6,507,977 

(Table 3) were allocated to the nine sectoral accounts for pro-

gramming. As of December 31, 2007, Guyana and Paraguay 

had not paid the full amount of their pledge.  Uruguay did not 

make any payments during the year and Vene-

zuela continued to have an outstanding balance 

from prior years. 

 

FEMCIDI Execution 

FEMCIDI 2006 programming cycle was ap-

proved and the implementation of project ac-

tivities commenced on April 1, 2007.  The Fund 

is moving in the direction of accomplishing one 

of its goals of improving the execution of pro-

jects. Although the Fund’s 2006 programming 

cycle officially ends on March 31, 2008, it has 

executed a total of 68.2% of its 2006 program-

ming budget as of December 31, 2007.   

 

The execution of FEMCIDI projects has been 

dominated in the sectors of Education, Science 

and Technology, Social Development and Sus-

tainable Development over the past four years 

as shown in Figure 7.  This trend indicates that 

these are the sectors where Member States 

contribute the most, as they have been deemed 

crucial to eliminating poverty. 

 

Table 3 
Payments by Member State 
From January 1 to December 31, 2007 

Figure 7 
FEMCIDI Execution by Sector 
As of December 31, 2007 (in thousands) 
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a) Does not include pass-through funds from the Government of Mexico to finance Specialized 
Conferences ($9.9M in 2003 and $31.7M in 2004), as well as to establish the Mexican Fund for 
Cooperation with Latin America and the Caribbean ($10.5M in 2004).

b) Includes $4.9M in Unprogrammed Funds for Cooperation from the United States.

c) Does not include pledges to FEMCIDI from the United States ($4.7M) and Mexico ($0.3M).  In 
addition, it does not include ($2M) for the Mexican Fund for Cooperation with Latin America and 
the Caribbean.
d) Does not include ($2.1M) for the Mexican Fund for Cooperation with Latin America and the 
Caribbean.

$76.0 $76.6 $76.6

$68.6
$65.0

$59.7 $60.8

$81.5
$84.4

$63.1

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Regular Fund Program-Budget

Specific Fund Contributions

a

a
b

c d

 

As defined by the General Standards that Govern the Operations of the General Secretariat, “Specific funds are 

made up of special contributions, including those received without purposes and limitations specified by the donor, 

from Member States and permanent observer states of the Organization and from other Member States of the 

United Nations, as well as from individuals or public or private institutions, whether national or international for the 

execution and or strengthening of development cooperation activities or programs of the General Secretariat and 

other  organs and entities of the Organization in accordance with agreements and contracts entered into by the Gen-

eral Secretariat in exercise of the powers conferred under the Charter.” 

 

Overall Contributions 

Contributions to Specific Funds amounted to a 

net of $60.8 million in 2007 compared to $59.7 

million during the year 2006 (Figure 8), in-

creasing by a net of $1.1 million, or 1.8%.  

 

Three major contributors to Specific Funds dur-

ing 2007 (Table 4) were the United States with  

19.6% of total contributions ($11.9 million), 

followed by Canada ($10.9 million) and Spain 

($9.1 million).    

 

From the $60.8 million net contributions to 

Specific Funds, 50.9% were received from 

Member States, 33.4% from Permanent Ob-

servers and the remaining 15.7% from other 

donors. Member States oriented more than half 

of their contributions to programs managed by 

SPECIFIC FUNDS 

Figure 8 
Overall Contributions 
From January 1 to December 31 (in millions) 

Table 4 
Contributions to Specific Funds by Donor 
From January 1 to December 31, 2007 (in thousands) 
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Member states Observers Others TOTAL %

United States 11,903.2$            -$                      -$                      11,903.2$            19.6%
Canada 10,870.9              -                       -                       10,870.9              17.9%
Spain -                       9,122.7               -                       9,122.7               15.0%
Sweden -                       3,767.4               -                       3,767.4               6.2%
World Bank -                       -                       3,074.9               3,074.9               5.1%
Brazil 2,793.7               -                       -                       2,793.7               4.6%
Norway -                       1,897.1               -                       1,897.1               3.1%
United Nations -                       -                       1,815.0               1,815.0               3.0%
Netherlands -                       1,573.8               -                       1,573.8               2.6%
Colombia 1,386.6               -                       -                       1,386.6               2.3%
Chile 1,197.0               -                       -                       1,197.0               2.0%
European Union -                       1,111.7               -                       1,111.7               1.8%
Mexico 1,053.4               -                       -                       1,053.4               a 1.7%
Organization of International Migrations -                       -                       790.0                  790.0                  1.3%
Multiple Funding Sources & Others 1,717.4               2,826.2               3,871.4               8,415.0               13.8%

TOTAL 30,922.2$            20,298.9$            9,551.3$              60,772.4$            100.0%

a) Does not include $2.1M for the Mexican Fund for Cooperation with Latin America and the Caribbean.
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Legend:

Ch 2 - Assistant Secretary General Ch 6 - Secretariat for Political Affairs

Ch 3 - Autonomous and/or Decentralized Entities Ch 7 - Executive Secretariat for Integral Development

Ch 5 - Secretariat for Mulltidimensional Security UNP - Unprogrammed Funds 

Other Chapters 

a) Does not include $2.1M for the Mexican Fund for Cooperation with Latin America and the Caribbean.
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    Other  (15.7% of contributions)

areas under Chapter 5 — Secretariat for Multidimensional Security and Chapter 7 — Executive Secretariat for Inte-

gral Development, while Observers oriented more than half of their contributions to Chapter 6—Secretariat for Politi-

cal Affairs, Chapter 5—Secretariat for Multidimensional Security, and Chapter 3—Autonomous and/or Decentralized 

Entities (Figure 9). 

Audits requested for Specific Fund Projects 

The General Secretariat is required to conduct financial audits of Specific Fund projects when stipulated in the donor 

agreement.  During 2007, four financial audits were conducted within this context.  

• Strengthening Democracy in Venezuela (European Union). The final report for this audit reported financial, man-

agement control and compliance findings. The GS/OAS reimbursed approximately $154 thousand to the Euro-

pean Union. 

• Electoral Observation Mission in Honduras for the General Elections that took place on November 27, 2005 

(Denmark). The final report for this audit was unqualified.  

• Gender Participation and Equality in the Municipal Public Finances of Nicaragua (The Netherlands). The terms of 

reference for the audit have been presented to the donor. Its approval is still pending.  

• Support for the Electoral System in Guatemala 2005-2007 (Sweden). The terms of reference for the audit have 

been approved by the donor and the process will start in 2008. 

 

Indirect Cost Recovery (ICR) from Specific Funds 

Public or private organizations recognize the need to fully cost their activities to enable informed decisions. Public 

organizations understand that there is a need to attain partial reimbursement of these costs through an ICR policy. 

Thus, ICR is not a new concept; it’s an industry standard in the public sector and a mechanism to partially recover 

indirect costs incurred, for example, in the administration of grants. 

 

The OAS Regular Fund budget partially covers indirect costs for basic operations and infrastructure. However, the 

OAS has increasing mandates financed through Specific Funds, with minimal increase to its Regular Fund budget. 

Figure 9 
Contributions to Specific Funds by Chapter 
From January 1 to December 31, 2007 (in thousands) 
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Implicitly, incremental Specific Funds have a heavy impact on OAS basic operations and infrastructure. Thus, the 

OAS needs a sustainable mechanism to partially recover these incremental costs. 

 

On May 23, 2007, supporting this concept, the Permanent Council approved Resolution CP/RES. 919 (1597/07), ad 

referendum of the General Assembly. Amendments to Articles 78 and 80 of the General Standards were approved in 

order to establish a clear  policy for the General Secretariat regarding the recovery of direct and indirect costs for 

projects funded by Specific Funds and Trust Funds. On May 29, 2007, the Secretary General, through Executive Or-

der 07-01, issued institutionalized definitions of direct and indirect costs, and indirect cost recovery percentages. 

 

Representatives from the Secretariat of Administration and Finance (SAF), in cooperation with the Department of 

Planning, Control and Evaluation (DPCE), have been meeting with representatives from Primary Dependencies to 

clarify concepts and help institutionalize the new ICR policy at the OAS. These meetings have continued in 2008 un-

der the umbrella of the newly created Committee on Administrative Matters (CAM). CAM discussions are focused 

mainly on i) ICR definitions and principles, ii) preparation of adequate project budgets that properly account for di-

rect and indirect costs, and iii) bring internal consensus on indirect cost requirements of Primary Dependencies. 

 

Although progress has been made in these areas, more efforts are still needed through this transition period. SAF  

has further institutionalized ICR through its presentation on “ICR 101: Indirect Cost Recovery Policy and Procedures” 

and the publication of the “ICR Guidelines and Procedures”, not only to OAS dependencies but to external donors as 

well. On some occasions, additional efforts have been required to apply the new ICR policy to Specific Fund contribu-

tions either through direct negotiations with donors or adjustments to project budgets. Notwithstanding these ef-

forts, some external resistance still exists that could risk the effectiveness of the new ICR policy. 

 

 

 

The OAS manages various activities through the Service Accounts, allowing it to handle certain administrative func-

tions not directly related to contributor agreements or Trust Funds.  The Service Accounts include the Building Man-

agement and Maintenance, Tax Equalization, and Indirect Cost Recovery accounts (discussed under Specific Funds 

section), among others. 

 

Building Management and Maintenance  

This account is established for the purpose of administering costs related to the mortgage, management and mainte-

nance of OAS buildings.  The main source of income for this account comes from the 2007 Regular Fund 

(approximately $4.8 million) and supplemented with rental space income (approximately $1.3 million) from the “F” 

Street Building (GSB). Total income through this account was $6.1 million as of December 31, 2007.  

 

Tax Equalization 

This account is established to reimburse eligible employees of the General Secretariat for income taxes paid to their 

respective Member State on their OAS income.  These reimbursements are sponsored by their corresponding Mem-

ber State. At the end of December, as a result of the fourth quarter tax advance to employees, the Tax Equalization 

account has a cash deficit of $3.6 million. A temporary inter-fund receivable account covers this deficit within the 

Regular Fund. 

 

SERVICE FUNDS 

SECTION II 
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The OAS Financial Management Framework (OASFMF) establishes the standards for sound financial management and 

control across the Organization and is a mandatory reference point for anyone within the Organization that has the 

responsibility to manage and execute the Organization’s funds. Its main purpose is to put in place a robust financial 

management governance framework that clearly:  

 

• Defines the policies that govern the use of the Organization’s financial resources; 

• Outlines the Organization’s core values and principles with respect to the management of these resources; 

• Establishes delegated authorities and financial management accountabilities for all resource managers; 

• Defines roles and responsibilities; and, 

• Standardizes and optimizes key business processes and systems in order to safeguard and ensure efficient and 

effective use of the Organization’s resources. 

 

The OASFMF is “work-in-progress” and its being updated over time as we continue to transform, modernize and 

standardize our business policies and processes. 

 

 

 

The Secretariat for Administration and Finance (SAF) has embarked on a project to transform and modernize the 

Organization’s resource management systems.  The project was introduced to all General Secretariat administrative 

and financial officers during SAF’s 1st Quarterly Resource Management Review held on May 1, 2007 and at the same 

time, SAF has been discussing this initiative in our recent meetings with the Assistant Secretaries and Directors of 

each program area. This project is supported by a grant from the Canadian International Development Agency 

(CIDA). SAF’s transformation agenda is centered on five key objectives:  

 

• Standardization of our resource management policies and processes in order to bring them in line with the best 

practices of other international organizations; 

• Enhancing transparency by developing policies and frameworks that demystify the way in which the Organiza-

tion’s resources are managed; 

• Establishing clear lines of accountability for resources and providing meaningful reports and analyses to our do-

nors and our senior managers throughout the General Secretariat on the use of those resources; 

• Providing training to all those responsible for planning, budgeting and executing donor resources; and, 

• Implementing a strong code of ethics for finance and administrative personnel at all levels. 

 

The intended outcome of this effort is a more streamlined and accountable financial and administrative management 

structure that provides world-class service commensurate with the Secretary General’s vision of the role of the OAS 

as “the principal inter-American, multilateral political organ.” 

OAS FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK (OASFMF) 

SAF TRANSFORMATION AND MODERNIZATION PROJECT (STAMP) 
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The General Assembly approved the administration of the funds under its purview, to the General Secretariat and 

the Executive Secretariat for Integral Development (SEDI), and granted autonomy to certain organizations, agencies 

and/or entities. 

 

During the years 2007 and 2006, the administration of the OAS entities contained in this report was divided as fol-

lows: the General Secretariat was responsible for financial administration of the Regular Fund and Specific Fund pro-

jects. The SEDI was responsible for the financial administration of Special Multilateral of the Inter-American Council 

Fund for Integral Development (FEMCIDI) funds.  The Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund was under the administrative 

responsibility of SEDI and its treasury was under the General Secretariat. The Inter-American Defense Board re-

ceived contributions from the OAS but operated administratively as an autonomous entity. The Retirement and Pen-

sion Fund conducts a separate independent audit which is included in this publication under Section IV. 

 

According to the separation of administrative responsibility mentioned above, the annual audit book for year 2007 is 

divided into four sections: Section I relates to the comments and recommendations by the Board of External Auditors 

to improve operating procedures and internal controls; Section II incorporates the financial statements of the funds 

administered by the General Secretariat; Section III incorporates the financial statements of entities related to the 

OAS that operate administratively autonomous; and Section IV reflects the financial statements of the Retirement 

and Pension Fund. 

 

As reflected in Section II, the General Secretariat has prepared and is responsible for the integrity of the financial 

data included in the accompanying financial statements. The combining statements for the Regular Fund, FEMCIDI, 

the Specific Funds and Service Funds have been prepared in conformity with accounting practices prescribed by the 

Budgetary and Financial Rules of the Organization, which include the financially oriented General Standards that 

Govern the Operations of the General Secretariat and other provisions approved by the General Assembly. The ac-

counting practices utilized by the General Secretariat for these statements differ in certain respects from accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America customarily applied in the presentation of financial 

statements.  

 

A description of the significant differences with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America is set forth in Note 2 to the combining financial statements.   

 

The General Secretariat maintains an accounting system and related controls to provide reasonable assurance that 

financial records are reliable for preparing financial statements. The accounting system includes internal controls to 

provide assurance that proper procedures and methods of operations are used to implement plans, policies and di-

rectives of the General Secretariat. 

 

In addition, the Board of External Auditors, consisting of three members elected by the General Assembly, is author-

ized to audit all accounts, funds, and operations of the Organization. The Board of External Auditors has engaged the 

services of the independent accounting firm Ernst & Young LLP to audit the financial statements. Ernst & Young LLP 

auditing procedures include a review of internal controls and selected tests of transactions and records. These audit-
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ing procedures are intended to provide a reasonable level of assurance that the financial statements are fairly stated 

in all material respects. The Board periodically meets with the independent auditors, officials of the General Secre-

tariat, and internal auditors to review and evaluate accounting, auditing and financial reporting activities and respon-

sibilities.  The Board of External Auditors, the independent auditors, as well as the internal auditors, have unlimited 

access to all records maintained by the General Secretariat.  For the Regular, FEMCIDI, Specific and Service Funds, 

the Trust for the Americas, Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund, and the OAS Medical Benefits Fund, the General Secretariat 

acts as their Treasurer and in that capacity has prepared those financial statements, and is responsible for the integ-

rity of the data contained therein. 

  

However, the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (Rowe Pan American) is administratively under the Department of 

Human Development, a department of the SEDI, and accordingly, the SEDI is responsible for all operational aspects 

of the Rowe Pan American Technical Secretariat. 

SECTION II 
RESP. FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

General Secretariat 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying combining statement of assets, liabilities and fund balance of the Organization 
of American States (the Organization) Regular Fund, FEMCIDI, Specific Funds and Service Funds as of December 
31, 2007 and the related combining statement of changes in fund balance for the year then ended. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Organization's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. The prior year summarized comparative information has been derived 
from the Organization’s 2006 financial statements, which were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 
23, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the exter-
nal auditing requirements prescribed in Chapter IX of the General Standards of the Organization of American 
States.  Those standards and requirements require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  We were not engaged to perform an audit 
of the Organization’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on test basis, evidence sup-
porting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
As described in Note 2, the Organization prepares its combining financial statements on the basis of accounting 
principles prescribed by the Budgetary and Financial Rules (which include the applicable financially-oriented General 
Standards adopted by the General Assembly of the Organization of American States), which is a comprehensive ba-
sis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the assets, li-
abilities and fund balance of the Organization as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in its fund balance for the 
year then ended on the basis of accounting described in Note 2. 
 
Our audit has been made primarily for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the basic combining financial state-
ments referred to in the first paragraph of this report taken as a whole. The accompanying information in the Man-
agement's Discussion and Analysis and in Supplementary Schedules 1 through 8 is presented for the purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected 
to the procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all mate-
rial respects in relation to the basic combining financial statements mentioned above taken as a whole. 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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NOTES TO COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The Charter of the Organization of American States (OAS) was signed in Bogota in 1948 and amended by the Proto-

col of Buenos Aires in 1967, by the Protocol of Cartagena de Indias in 1985, by the Protocol of Washington in 1992, 

and by the Protocol of Managua in 1993.  In this charter, the OAS was created as an international organization to 

achieve an order of peace and justice, to promote solidarity, to strengthen collaboration, and to defend the Member 

States’ sovereignty, territorial integrity, and independence. The OAS is a regional agency, within the United Nations.  

The OAS accomplishes its purposes by means of a) the General Assembly, b) the Meeting of Consultation of Ministers 

of Foreign Affairs, c) the Councils, d) the Inter-American Juridical Committee, e) the Inter-American Commission on 

Human Rights, and f) the General Secretariat. 

  

The General Secretariat is the central and permanent organ of the OAS. To ensure observance of limitations and re-

strictions placed on the use of resources available to OAS, the accounts of OAS are maintained in accordance with 

fund accounting principles.  Separate accounts are maintained for each fund.  The combining financial statements of 

the OAS include the financial statements of the Regular Operating Fund, The Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-

American Council for Integral Development (FEMCIDI), Specific Funds, and Service Funds. 

  

The financial position and changes in fund balance of the Regular Fund, FEMCIDI, Specific Funds and Service Funds 

are reflected in Exhibits 1 and 2 on a combining basis and all interfund activity has been eliminated. Combining 

statement totals for 2006, including the footnotes, are presented for comparative purposes.  The Operating Subfund 

Unappropriated account for SEDI is shown as part of the Service Funds. For 2007, this fund did not receive subsidies 

from the OAS or voluntary pledge contributions. The FEMCIDI Reserve Subfund is a fund for unforeseen activities 

that may arise during the course of the year. 

    

In the accompanying combining financial statements, the funds administered by the General Secretariat are grouped 

in the following categories, according to their source of financing and purpose: 

 

Regular Fund 

The Regular Fund is financed primarily by the assessment of quotas to the Member States and contributions from 

certain other OAS funds. The purpose of this fund is to provide the General Secretariat with general support as well 

as technical supervision and administrative services to the programs. In addition to the General Secretariat, the fol-

lowing organs, specialized organizations, agencies and entities are financed wholly or in part through budgetary             

appropriations of the Regular Fund and are included in the financial statements of the Regular Fund: 

 

• General Assembly 

• Permanent Council of the OAS 

• Inter-American Commission on Human Rights 

• Inter-American Court on Human Rights 

1. ORGANIZATION AND COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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• Inter-American Commission of Women 

• Inter-American Juridical Committee 

• Inter-American Children’s Institute 

• Inter-American Commission for Drug Abuse             

Control 

• Inter-American Telecommunications 

Commission 

• Inter-American Defense Board 

• Executive Secretariat for Integral Development 

• Pan American Development Foundation 

 

The Special Multilateral Fund of the Inter-American Council for Integral Development (FEMCIDI) 

FEMCIDI is financed mainly by voluntary contributions of the Member States to support the programs adopted by the 

Council and approved by the General Assembly. FEMCIDI finances the multilateral and national cooperation pro-

grams, projects and activities of the Inter-American Council for Integral Development (CIDI). FEMCIDI consists of 

the Integral Development account and the following Sectoral accounts: 

 

• Economic Diversification and Integration, Trade Liberalization and Market Access 

• Social Development and Creation of Productive Employment 

• Education 

• Culture 

• Scientific Development, and Exchange and Transfer of Technology 

• Strengthening of Democratic Institutions 

• Sustainable Development and Environment 

• Sustainable Development of Tourism 

 

Specific Funds  

The Specific Funds are financed by grants or bequests for activities specified by the donor, and any other contribu-

tions by national or international, public or private entities, for carrying out or strengthening specific activities or 

programs of the General Secretariat. These funds have been segregated for specific purposes and their use is re-

stricted through designation by the General Assembly, the General Secretariat and/or the donor.  

 

Service Funds 

The OAS manages several activities identified as Service Funds, which allows the OAS to handle certain administra-

tive activities not directly related to donor agreements or Trust Funds. Since 2005, OAS segregated these funds from 

the Specific Funds’ financial statements to reflect the impact of those Funds. 

 

Other Entities and Specialized Organizations  

The assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related income and expenses for the years 

then ended of the following organizations, which are subject to separate budgetary control and financial reporting, 

are not included within the accompanying financial statements of OAS (Exhibits 1 and 2): 

 

SECTION II 
CH 4 
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• Inter-American Indian Institute 

• Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture * 

• Inter-American Library Simon Bolivar * 

• Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund * 

• Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund * 

• OAS Medical Benefits Trust * 

• Inter-American Defense Board * 

• Pan-American Development Foundation * 

• Pan American Health Organization  

• Retirement and Pension Fund 

* Recipients for cash and/or in kind contributions or administrative services from the Regular Fund. 

 

 

 

The accompanying Combining financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Budgetary and Finan-

cial Rules of the OAS (Rules). The Rules provide the basis for the accounting principles applied in the preparation of 

the Combining financial statements. The Rules were adopted to meet budgetary and other requirements of OAS, and 

as such result in accounting principles and a financial statement display which vary in certain material respects from 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. OAS has not quantified the impact of these 

differences on the financial statements. The significant deviations are listed as follows and in various other notes. 

 

A. The General Secretariat deems impractical to evaluate the collectibility of assessed but uncollected quotas; 

therefore, quotas and pledges are included in the financial statements of the various funds only to the extent 

collected. Contributions from Member States and from other interested parties for specific purposes are simi-

larly recorded at the time of collection. 

B. Unliquidated obligations in certain funds include amounts related to commitments to disburse monies for the 

procurement of goods or  services in future periods. Such amounts represent liabilities to third parties at the 

end of the respective periods and are  anticipated to be expended in the subsequent year in the completion of 

a particular program or activity.  Unliquidated obligations in the Regular Fund are de-obligated upon the expi-

ration of the related appropriation. Those de-obligated obligations are recorded as other income in the accom-

panying financial statements. 

C. OAS provides certain benefits to its employees 

that accrue to them during periods of employment 

and are payable at various times during employ-

ment or upon separation, whether voluntary or 

involuntary. Costs for such employee benefits 

have historically been recorded upon payment 

rather than as such benefits accrue.  Table 1 

shows these expenditures and obligations for the 

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

D. The General Assembly of the OAS adopts a con-

solidated program budget which includes the 

budgets for the Regular Fund. In the combining 

2. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 

Table 1 
Cost of Employee Benefits 
From January 1 to December 31 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

2007 2006
Home travel  $      237,199  $      180,440 

Repatriation of family and
  household goods upon
  separation

70,949 91,312

Separation indemnity and
  termination pay

951,921 2,622,142

Medical Benefits subsequent to
  separation

2,649,528 2,664,660

Total  $   3,909,597  $   5,558,554 

Unrecorded earned annual and special leave approximated  $6,554,109 and 
$6,178,163, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.



GS/OAS - ANNUAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

64 

budget, the amounts appropriated for substantially all approved career personnel costs are included in the 

Regular Fund’s budget. In addition, certain other administrative costs benefiting all funds are included in the 

budget of the Regular Fund.  In lieu of allocating these costs to various funds on a services-rendered basis, the 

General Assembly has provided that the other funds pay a contribution to the Regular Fund for administrative 

and technical support. The amount of the contribution may not bear a direct relationship to the actual cost of 

the services provided to those funds during the period. 

E. The Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance of the Regular Fund include certain amounts to be 

charged against future appropriations. These expenditures are deferred as there is no approved budgetary fi-

nancing. This deferral does not relate to the period in which the benefits accrue. 

F. The Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance of the Regular Fund do not account for unexpended 

advances issued in the performance of certain OAS programs as they are recorded as expenses (Note 7). 

G. Contributions from Member States and other interested parties in the form of use of facilities and services are 

received for certain activities administered by the General Secretariat. No amounts are recorded in the accom-

panying combining financial statements relating to the use of such facilities or services in as much as the Gen-

eral Secretariat currently does not have an objective procedure to value these amounts. 

H. A cash flow statement is not provided and certain other provisions pertaining to accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United States of America related to financial statement display are not applied. In addition, 

unrealized gains/(losses) on investments are not included in income, and investments are recorded at histori-

cal cost, not at fair market value. 

I. OAS has created revolving accounts (Service Funds) according to its Rules for the allocation of common costs 

among the various OAS funds and entities and other administrative activities that are not necessarily donor 

related. The major purpose of Service Funds is the identification of costs that should be allocated to various 

GS/OAS dependencies or to manage administrative activities. Those GS/OAS entities to which the costs are 

allocated recognize the amount as expenditures and a reduction in cash, and the service funds recognize the 

related income and the expenditures to third party vendors for 2007.   

J. FEMCIDI pledges received in a fiscal year are expended in the next fiscal year. Revenue is recognized in the 

year it is received and credited to the FEMCIDI sectoral accounts as instructed by the contributing countries 

until project execution the following fiscal year. This policy reflects the provisions of the FEMCIDI statutes.  

 

 

 

The preparation of combining financial statements in accordance with the Rules requires management to make esti-

mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the 

reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

 

 

Certain income and expense transactions during 2007 and 2006 were in currencies other than the United States dol-

lar. These transactions have been translated into United States dollar equivalents at rates of exchange in effect at 

the time of the transactions. Foreign currency assets included in the accompanying combining financial statements,              

3. USE OF ESTIMATES 

4. FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

SECTION II 
CH 4 
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consisting principally of cash and time deposits amounting to approximately $1,068,566 and $1,491,000 as of De-

cember 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, have been translated into the United States dollar at the applicable ex-

change rates at December 31. Certain currencies are restricted as to convertibility and, therefore, must be utilized in 

foreign local currency for OAS activities. 

 

 

 

OAS Treasury Fund 

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out 

the activities of the various funds of the OAS 

are consolidated in the OAS Treasury Fund.  

Each fund administered by the General Secre-

tariat maintains equity to the extent of its cash 

balance retained therein. The General Secre-

tariat administers the OAS Treasury Fund, and 

amounts not immediately required for opera-

tions are invested.  Income earned by the OAS 

Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each 

fund in proportion to its balance. The composi-

tion of the OAS Treasury Fund as of December 

31 is shown in Table 2.  

 

The Regular Fund 

The Regular Fund is divided into two subfunds: 

Operating Subfund and the Reserve Subfund. 

 

The Operating Subfund 

In accordance with the Regular Fund Program-Budget, all income of the Regular Fund is credited to, and all obliga-

tions and expenditures are charged to the Operating Subfund, except for those amounts allocated to the Reserve 

Subfund or Supplementary Appropriations.  

 

The Reserve Subfund 

The purpose of the Reserve Subfund is to ensure the regular and continuous financial functioning of the             

General Secretariat. The amount of this Subfund shall be equivalent to 30 percent of the total annual quotas of the 

Member States. Amounts in excess of the 30 percent shall be available for any purpose approved by the General 

Assembly. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the total fund balance was insufficient to provide 30 percent to this 

balance. 

 

Regular Fund Balances 

Within the Reserve Subfund, $4,094,950 has been restricted to cover Fellowships 2006 and 2007 appropriated to be 

executed in 2008 and in subsequent years, pursuant to AG/RES. 2257 (XXXVI-O/06) and $5,352,200 has been re-

stricted for financing 2008 Regular Fund from 2007 unobligated funds per AG/RES. 1 (XXXIII-E/07). 

5. EQUITY IN OAS TREASURY FUND 

Table 2 
OAS Treasury Fund 
As of December 31 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

2007 2006

Demand and Time Deposits, net of 
$623,738 and $576,000 representing 
checks not presented for payment as 
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively.

 $      132,345,683  $      119,371,000 

Accrued Interest Receivable                146,792                  87,000 
Scheduled Disbursements                (97,137)              (219,000)
Local Currency at OAS Country
Offices             1,068,566             1,491,000 

        133,463,904         120,730,000 

Less Equity of:
Trust Funds (Rowe, Medical 
Benefits, Trust for the Americas)

            3,177,034             1,501,000 

Add:
Petty Cash and Cash in Transit                  10,900                  19,000 

Total  $      130,297,770  $      119,248,000 



GS/OAS - ANNUAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

66 

Table 3 is a roll forward of the Regular 

Fund fund balance accounts from De-

cember 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007. 

 

 

The General Secretariat follows the prac-

tice of charging to current fiscal period’s 

operations/appropriations the amount 

disbursed in acquiring real property, 

equipment, and works of art and subse-

quently capitalizing such acquisitions in 

a separate Fixed Assets Fund. This prac-

tice allows the GS/OAS to continue to 

reflect those expenditures for fixed as-

sets against the amounts appropriated for such purposes while, at the same time, presenting them as capitalized 

assets on the Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance. Only those assets under direct control of the Gen-

eral Secretariat at its headquarters, its offices in the Member States and certain assets within the missions are in-

cluded in the financial statements. Fixed assets are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over 

their estimated useful lives. 

The composition of fixed assets 

as of December 31 is shown in 

Table 4. OAS capitalized ap-

proximately $650,678 of build-

ing costs associated with reno-

vations to their existing prop-

erties, the GSB Building, the 

Main Building and the Museum 

for the year ended December 

31, 2007. During 2007, fixed 

assets acquired in prior years 

were incorporated. The book 

value of these assets 

amounted to $716,307. 

 

 

In the performance of various activities, the administrators of the various funds may deem it necessary to advance 

funds for conducting a program or a specific event prior to the actual incurrence of the expenses, such as activities 

in remote locations.  In the opinion of the administrators of the funds, such action is necessary to assure the timely 

performance of such activities. Recipients of advances are required to submit an accounting or suitable supporting 

documentation for the resulting expenditures in a form deemed adequate by the administrators of the funds and by 

7. ACCOUNTABLE ADVANCES 

6. FIXED ASSETS 

Table 3 
Roll Forward of Regular Fund Fund Balance Accounts 
From December 31, 2006 to December 31, 2007 (in thousands) 

Table 4 
Composition of Fixed Assets 
For the years ended December 31 

Asset Depreciation Basis 2007 2006

Land N/A  $      5,491,305  $      5,491,305 
Buildings 50 years        62,336,539        61,864,333 
Vehicles 5 years          5,205,834          3,833,132 
Furniture 10 years          4,580,709          4,868,387 
Technical Machinery and Equipment 5 years        13,462,272        13,091,614 
Works of Art N/A          3,052,098          3,048,248 
Collections N/A                 1,350                 1,350 

       94,130,107        92,198,369 
Less: accumulated depreciation       (36,896,023)       (34,382,835)
Net Book Value as of December 31  $     57,234,084  $     57,815,534 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

Unappropriated
Balance as of 
12/31/2006  $                -  $       10,850  $         3,000  $       33,926 

Net increase 
during period                    -           (4,535)             6,447                    - 

Net increase 
(decrease) in 
fixed assets

                   -                    -                    -              (222)

Balance as of 
12/31/2007

 $                -  $         6,315  $         9,447  *  $       33,704 

* Includes:  $4,095 restricted to cover Fellowships 2006 and 2007 appropriated to be executed in 
2008 and in subsequent years, pursuant to AG/RES. 2257 (XXXVI-O/06) and $5,352 restricted for 
financing 2008 Regular Fund from 2007 unobligated funds per AG/RES. 1 (XXXIII-E/07).

Operating 
Subfund

Restricted for 
Fixed Assets

Reserve Subfund

Appropriated
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Member states
Argentina 206,370$       
Bahamas 22,200          
Barbados 40,452          
Bolivia 133,070        
Brazil 2,793,739      
Canada 10,870,911    
Chile 1,197,000      
Colombia 1,386,635      
Costa Rica 29,288          
Dominica 13,500          
Ecuador 10,000          
El Salvador 347,038        
Guyana 4,837            
Honduras 399,858        
Jamaica 22,532          
Mexico 3,188,882      
Nicaragua 3,000            
Panama 160,411        
Peru 55,000          
St. Lucia 20,981          
St. Vincent and the Grenadines 3,333            
Trinidad and Tobago 185,434        
United States 11,903,215    
Venezuela 60,000          

Total Member states 33,057,686$  53%

Observers
Austria 61,600          
China 173,000        
Denmark 277,049        
European Union 1,111,715      
Finland 320,559        
France 194,086        
Germany 15,300          
Greece 30,000          
Ireland 524,740        
Italy 681,166        
Japan 140,900        
Korea 100,000        
Netherlands 1,573,778      
Norway 1,897,132      
Portugal 18,200          
Spain 9,122,746      
Sweden 3,767,418      
Switzerland 27,077          
Turkey 125,000        
United Kingdom 137,424        

Total Observers 20,298,890    32%

Non Member states and others
CONAE 326,510        
I-A Development Bank 644,986        
International Development Research Centre 234,237        
International Organization for Migration 790,000        
OSI Dev. Foundation 246,919        
United Nations 1,814,988      
World Bank 3,074,893      
Multiple Funding Sources & Others 2,418,815      

Total non Member states and others 9,551,348      15%

Total contributions to Specific Funds 62,907,924$  100%

8. CONTRIBUTIONS TO SPECIFIC FUNDS 

the Department of Budgetary and Financial Services.  Advances of this nature are recorded as expenditures in the 

period in which funds are advanced.  

 

 

 

 

 

Contributions by donor to Specific 

Funds during the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2007, as reflected in Exhibit 2 

of the accompanying combining finan-

cial statements, are shown in Table 5. 

 

 

 

Tax reimbursements represent 

amounts paid to certain employees of 

the General Secretariat of the Organi-

zation of American States (GS/OAS) 

for income taxes paid to their respec-

tive Member State.  The GS/OAS is 

responsible for reimbursement of in-

come taxes to qualified individuals. At 

the same time, the Member States are 

responsible for reimbursement to the 

GS/OAS for the amount disbursed to 

the employee. The Regular Fund is 

sometimes required to reimburse 

taxes to staff members prior to receipt 

of payment by the Member States. 

 

 

 

Demand Notes Payable were incurred 

solely by the Regular Fund under the 

terms and conditions presented in Ta-

ble 6 on the following page. 

 

On October 24th, 2001, GS/OAS is-

sued Twenty-Five Million Dollars 

9. TAX REIMBURSEMENTS 

10. DEMAND NOTES 
PAYABLE 

Table 5 
Contributions to Specific Funds 
From January 1 to December 31 

SECTION II 
CH 4 
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($25,000,000) in the aggregate principal amount of The General 

Secretariat of the Organization of American States Taxable Vari-

able Rate Demand Notes, Series A (Demand notes), and used the 

proceeds to pay off an existing mortgage, pay financing fees and 

finance the cost of improvements to the General Secretariat 

Building (GSB) located at 1889 F Street N.W. 

 

The Demand notes will mature on March 1, 2033. In support of 

the Demand notes, Bank of America N.A. provided GS/OAS with a 

letter of credit which will expire on November 1, 2011. Although 

the Demand notes were issued in a variable rate mode, GS/OAS 

entered into a SWAP agreement with Bank of America locking in 

the interest it will pay on the Demand notes to 6.37%.  

 

Swap agreement  

As GS/OAS does not follow accounting principles generally ac-

cepted in the United States of America, GS/OAS does not account 

for the interest rate swap agreement under Statement of Finan-

cial Standards No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”  Thus, OAS has not deter-

mined whether this swap is an effective or ineffective hedge relationship, and has not recorded the fair value of the 

swap. 

 

During fiscal years 2007 and 2006, OAS paid $1,715,298 and $1,703,727 respectively, of interest expense and fees 

related to the swap agreement, of which $31,598 and $24,235 relates to bank fees, respectively. 

 

The GS/OAS has various debt covenants related to the Demand notes. Not all of the requirements of those cove-

nants were met during fiscal years 2007 and 2006. The terms of the Demand notes agreement require the bank to 

issue a letter of notification requesting that the default be remedied within 30 days. The GS/OAS has not received a 

letter of notification from the bank as of the date of the audit opinion, and thus is not considered to be in default on 

the Demand notes.  

 

 

The General Secretariat leases certain facilities and equipment. Rental costs for such leases totaled $1,101,206 and 

$1,142,111 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The GS/OAS leases space in its GSB 

building to other tenants, and occasionally rents the Hall of the Americas and the Art Museum of the Americas. These 

leases have varying terms of 5 and 15 years extending through June 2018. The GS/OAS earned rental income total-

ing $2,001,299 and 1,879,331 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

 

 

Staff members of the General Secretariat of OAS are required to join the Retirement and Pension Plan, Provident 

Plan or 401(M) Plan, as a condition of employment.  In addition under special agreements, employees of other agen-

11. LEASES 

Table 6 
Demand Notes Terms and Conditions 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

12. RETIREMENT PLANS 

Principal balance as of 
12/31/2007:

 $               23,530,000 

Repayment terms Due on demand, 
scheduled payments due 
in monthly installments 
beginning on Sep. 1, 
2003, through Mar. 1, 
2033. Scheduled 
payments are made 
semiannually.

Annual interest rate 6.37%
Interest expense and 
fees:

 2006  $                 1,703,727 
 2007  $                 1,788,103 

Scheduled Principal Payments
 Prior Years  $                 1,110,000 
 2007                        360,000 
 2008                        390,000 
 2009                        410,000 
 2010                        440,000 
 2011 and there after                   22,290,000 

 Total  $               25,000,000 
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cies of the Inter-American system may also participate in these Plans. The following agencies are current partici-

pants: the Inter-American Institute for Cooperation on Agriculture (IICA), the Inter-American Defense Board (IADB), 

and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (ICHR). 

  

The Retirement and Pension Plan is a contributory defined benefit retirement plan. Compulsory contributions are 

shared 2/3 by the institution and 1/3 by the staff member. The Provident Plan is a contributory savings plan estab-

lished for the benefit of employees under short-term contracts. Compulsory contributions to the Provident Plan are 

made in equal amounts and participants are fully vested at all times on their respective balances in the Plan.  

 

The 401(M) plan is also a contributory plan designed for members with a contract for a limited time in excess of one 

year or for members who have not elected participation in the Retirement and Pension Plan. The 401(M) is similar in 

its nature to an Individual Retirement Account (IRA). Pension expense for the Retirement and Pension, Provident and 

401(M) Plans borne by the Regular Fund amounted to $7,638,860 in 2007 and $7,036,795 in 2006. 

 

In addition to the retirement plans described above, the General Secretariat provides a lifetime annuity to former 

Secretary Generals and Assistant Secretary Generals with survival benefits for their spouses and has extended pen-

sion benefits to certain former staff members with expired fixed term pensions. The approximate cost of these an-

nuities, $362,439 and $515,149 in 2007 and 2006 respectively, is budgeted and recognized in the year paid. The 

approximate present value of estimated future payments of $6.6 million and $6.8 million as of December 31, 2007 

and 2006, respectively, is reflected in the amounts to be charged to future year’s appropriations in the Statement of 

Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance of the Regular Fund.  

 

 

 

In addition to providing pension benefits as described in Note 12 above, the General Secretariat provides health care 

and life insurance benefits for retirees and their dependents. The cost of health care is partially borne by the retir-

ees. The cost to  the   General Secretariat for its portion of the health care as well as the life insurance is recognized 

when paid.  For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, those costs were $2,857,898 and $2,760,190 re-

spectively. 

 

 

There are several claims asserted by various individuals arising from the normal course of the Organization’s activi-

ties. In the opinion of management, these cases and assertions will not result in a material adverse financial effect 

on the financial condition of OAS. 

 

 

During the fiscal year 2007 the OAS General Secretariat, thru the Department of Human Development, conducted 

two selection cycles to award new fellowships. The first selection cycle was conducted under parameters established 

specifically for that cycle by a joint Permanent Council CEPCIDI Resolution No. 912 dated December 14, 2006 that 

13. POST EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE AND LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS 

14. CONTINGENCIES 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

15. FELLOWSHIPS 
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temporarily lifted the pause that had been imposed in the Fellowship program. The second selection cycle was con-

ducted under the new Manual of Procedures approved by Member States thru General Assembly Resolution AG/RES. 

2353 (XXXVII-0/07) of June 2007.  

 

The General Assembly Resolution AG/RES. 2353 (XXXVII-0/07) of June 2007 also authorized the use of unspent 

budget resources from FY 2007, as a result of the pause that had been imposed on the program, in future budgetary 

years as follows: “To authorize the General Secretariat, through the Department of Human Development, to use for 

both new and second-year graduate and undergraduate scholarships in 2008 and subsequent years, all appropria-

tions approved for OAS scholarships under resolution AG/RES. 2257 (XXXVI-O/06) that have been neither obligated 

nor spent in 2007 as a result of the pause mandated in that resolution.” 

 

Since the 2006 General Assembly had also re-authorized the use of unobligated and unspent 2006 appropriations for 

new graduate and undergraduate fellowships in 2007 and in subsequent years, the Department of Human Develop-

ment used the money on a first-in, first-out basis to account in FY 2007 for the cost of 

new scholarships granted in the first cycle referred to above. The cost associated with 

the second cycle will be accounted for during 2008 as students are placed in different 

educational institutions and the corresponding contracts are signed. Total budget execu-

tion in 2007 amounted to $2,258,450 financed with FY 2006 unspent funds and from the 

FY 2007 appropriated budget.  

 

 

 

Grants received by the GS/OAS may be subject to donor audit. Donors may request the GS/OAS financial reports of 

funds received and expended as prescribed in the corresponding donor agreements.  Management believes it is in 

compliance with all significant donor requirements. 

16. GRANTS 

Table 7 
Fellowship Commitments 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

2008  $   2,279,127 

2009          222,715 

 $   2,501,842 
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Organization of American States 
Regular Fund 
Summary of Appropriations 
As of December 31, 2007 

Schedule 3 

Organization of American States 
Regular Fund 
Summary of Disposition of Appropriations 
As of December 31, 2007 

Schedule 4 

SECTION II 
CH 4 

Approved by the
General Assembly

(a)

Adjusted
Appropriation 

Approved by the 
Permanent Council

(b)

Supplementary
Appropriation

(c)

Discretionary
Appropriation

( d )

2007
Adjusted
Budget

Secretary General 7,678,000$            7,984,630                   306,840$               27,470                       8,318,940$            
Assistant Secretary General 18,911,200            19,631,800                 160,000                 (174,300)                    19,617,500            
Autonomous and/or Decentralized Entities 13,375,200            13,715,850                 -                           (562,150)                    13,153,700            
Department of International Legal Affairs 2,214,500              2,305,790                   -                           26,610                       2,332,400              
Secretariat for Multidimensional Security 2,911,800              3,022,950                   -                           726,350                     3,749,300              
Secretariat for Political Affairs 3,324,700              3,455,330                   -                           718,870                     4,174,200              
Executive Secretariat for Integral Development 8,107,800              8,432,100                   -                           (357,300)                    8,074,800              
Secretariat for Administration and Finance 10,295,600            10,695,990                 -                           (274,590)                    10,421,400            
Basic Infrastructure and Common Costs 11,458,700            11,960,190                 -                           (130,890)                    11,829,300            
Subsidies:

Inter-American Court of Human Rights 1,656,300              1,656,300                   -                           -                                1,656,300              
Inter-American Defense Board 1,436,200              1,436,200                   -                           -                                1,436,200              
Pan-American Development Foundantion 130,000                 130,000                     -                           -                                130,000                 

Total 81,500,000$          84,427,130$          466,840$               70$                       84,894,040$          

(a) AG/RES. 2257 (XXXVI-O/06)

(b) CP/RES. 911 (1573/06)

(c) Americas Magazine (US$306,840), FONDEM (US$160,000)

(d) CP/CAAP-2913/07, CP/CAAP/2917/07, and  CP/CAAP-2931/07 corr.1

2007 Budget

2007
Adjusted
Budget

Charges for 
Expenditures

Unliquidated 
Obligations

Total Expenditures 
and Obligations

Unused 
Appropriations

Secretary General 8,318,940$            8,289,040                   21,900                       8,310,940$            8,000$                   
Assistant Secretary General 19,617,500            18,902,700                 542,500                     19,445,200            172,300                 
Autonomous and/or Decentralized Entities 13,153,700            7,159,400                   700,263                     7,859,663              5,294,037              
Department of International Legal Affairs 2,332,400              2,321,000                   5,700                         2,326,700              5,700                    
Secretariat for Multidimensional Security 3,749,300              3,650,200                   58,400                       3,708,600              40,700                   
Secretariat for Political Affairs 4,174,200              4,048,000                   123,400                     4,171,400              2,800                    
Executive Secretariat for Integral Development 8,074,800              7,967,600                   59,900                       8,027,500              47,300                   
Secretariat for Administration and Finance 10,421,400            10,090,700                 285,800                     10,376,500            44,900                   
Basic Infrastructure and Common Costs 11,829,300            11,335,700                 430,800                     11,766,500            62,800                   
Subsidies:

Inter-American Court of Human Rights 1,656,300              1,656,300                   -                                1,656,300              -                           
Inter-American Defense Board 1,436,200              1,436,200                   -                                1,436,200              -                           
Pan-American Development Foundantion 130,000                 130,000                     -                                130,000                 -                           

Total 84,894,040$          76,986,840$          2,228,663$            79,215,503$          5,678,537$            

Budgeted Funding:

Quotas 77,277,200$               

Supplementary Appropriations: 2,927,200                   
FONDEM 160,000                     
Americas Magazine Subscription Revenue 306,840                     

80,671,240               

Interest, Rental and Other Income 4,222,800                   
Total 84,894,040$             

Actuals



GS/OAS - ANNUAL AUDIT OF ACCOUNTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007 AND 2006 

74 

2007
Adjusted
Budget 2007 Expenditures 

2007 Unliquidated 
Obligations 

Total Expenditures 
and Obligations

Unused 
Appropriations

Economic Diversification and Integration, 
Trade Liberalization and Market Access

1,042,758$            443,409$               168,258$               611,667$               431,091$               

Social Development and Creation of 
Productive Employment

942,469                 493,999                 145,873                 639,871                 302,598                 

Education 2,238,403              869,800                 586,267                 1,456,067              782,336                 
Culture 33,319                   11,661                   8,906                    20,567                   12,752                   
Scientific Development, Exchange and 
Transfer of Technology

1,237,370              630,640                 357,321                 987,961                 249,409                 

Strengthening of Democratic Institutions 351,602                 64,850                   92,503                   157,353                 194,249                 

Sustainable Development of Tourism 992,406                 526,624                 258,235                 784,859                 207,547                 
Sustainable Development and Environment 743,250                 370,297                 144,223                 514,520                 228,730                 

Projects Preparation 1,064,411              108,145                 16,635                   124,780                 939,631                 
Projects Evaluation 210,019                 143,554                 81,667                   225,221                 (15,202)                 
Contribution for Administrative and Technical 
Support

896,047                 896,047                 -                           896,047                 -                           

Total 9,752,054$            4,559,025$            1,859,889$            6,418,914$            3,333,140$            

Actuals

Organization of American States 
FEMCIDI 
Summary of Appropriations 
As of December 31, 2007 

Schedule 5 

Organization of American States 
FEMCIDI 
Summary of Disposition of Appropriations 
As of December 31, 2007 

Schedule 6 

Available Resources
(a),(b)

Transfers Approved by 
IACD Management 

Board
(c)

Unavailable
Resources

(a)

2007
Adjusted
Budget

Integral Development Account 463,827$               (463,827)$              -$                          -$                          
Economic Diversification and Integration, 
Trade Liberalization and Market Access

467,442                 575,316                 -                           1,042,758              

Social Development and Creation of 
Productive Employment

708,732                 233,737                 -                           942,469                 

Education 2,991,333              (325,421)                427,509                 2,238,403              
Culture 200,106                 (73,379)                 93,408                   33,319                   
Scientific Development, Exchange and 
Transfer of Technology

1,720,375              (215,023)                267,982                 1,237,370              

Strengthening of Democratic Institutions 326,301                 25,301                   -                           351,602                 

Sustainable Development of Tourism 626,237                 366,169                 -                           992,406                 
Sustainable Development and Environment 1,011,997              (122,873)                145,874                 743,250                 

Projects Preparation 1,064,411              -                           1,064,411              
Projects Evaluation 210,019                 -                           -                           210,019                 
Contribution for Administrative and Technical 
Support

896,047                 -                           -                           896,047                 

Total 10,686,827$          -$                          934,773$               9,752,054$            

(a) AICD/JD/doc.104/07 rev .1, dated March 12, 2007

(b) Includes the remaining budget of the 2002 -2004 FEMCIDI awards and the 2005-2006 FEMCIDI awards for Projects Preparation and Evaluation 

    and the 2006 FEMCIDI award for Administrative and Technical Support.

(c) IACD/JD/DE.59/07 corr. 1, dated March 13, 2007

2007 Budget

SECTION II 
CH 4 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (the 
Fund), as of December 31, 2007, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended.  
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Fund's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2006 were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 23, 2007, expressed an unqualified opin-
ion on those statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Fund’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opin-
ion. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of December 31 
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CH 5 

Organization of American States 
Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund 
Statements of Activities 
For the years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

2007 2006
Assets
  Equity in the OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents 446,372$       472,149$       

  Investments at fair value:
    Mutual funds invested in equity investments 6,912,136      6,367,289      
    Mutual funds invested in fixed income securities 6,002,991      5,556,294      

12,915,127    11,923,583    
  Loans receivable 
    Students 1,104,378      1,447,340      
    Allowance for uncollectible loans (162,167)        (128,575)        
  Total student loans receivable 942,211         1,318,765      

  Loans to employees of the OAS 209,879         231,978         

  Other receivables 26,858           25,885           
            Total assets 14,540,447$  13,972,360$   

Liabilities and Net assets
  Accounts payable 15,554$         14,350$         
  Guarantor deposits 11,658           33,880           
  Due to MacLean Fund 65,523           65,523           
           Total Liabilities 92,735           113,753         

Net assets
  Committee designated 1,000,000      1,000,000      
  Available for loans 13,378,713    12,803,160    
  Supplementary guarantee for loans 9,992             9,992             
  MacLean Fellowship Fund 33,212           21,843           
  Student Life-Self Insurance 25,795           23,612           
           Total Net Assets 14,447,712    13,858,607    

           Total liabilities and net assets 14,540,447$  13,972,360$   

2007 2006
Income
  Dividend and interest investment income 457,378$       492,968$       
  Unrealized gains on investments 578,221         758,867         
  Revaluation of allowance -                    13,369           
  Other income 45,132           51,533           
Total Income 1,080,731      1,316,737      

Expenses
  Unrealized loss on investments 40,499           53,635           
  Administrative expenses 451,127         332,786         
Total Expenses 491,626         386,421         

Change in net assets 589,105         930,316         
Net assets at beginning of year 13,858,607    12,928,291    
Net assets at end of year 14,447,712$  13,858,607$   
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Organization of American States 
Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

SECTION II 
CH 5 

2007 2006

Operating Activities
  Change in net assets 589,105$       930,316$       

  Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
  to net cash provided by operating activities:
     Unrealized gain on investments (578,221)        (705,232)        
     Unrealized loss on investments 40,498           -                    
     Revaluation of Allowance 124,144         (13,369)          
     Write off of student loans (90,552)         -                    

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
      Decrease in loans to students 342,962         524,072         
      Decrease in loans to employees 22,099           148,701         
      Increase in miscellaneous receivables (973)              (6,607)           
      Decrease in liabilities (21,018)         (16,233)          
 Net cash provided by operating activities 428,044         861,648         

Investing activities
Proceeds from the sale of investments -                    (559,772)        
Reinvestments of dividends received (453,821)        (473,388)        
Net cash used in investing activities (453,821)        (1,033,160)     

Net decrease in Equity in OAS Treasury Fund (25,777)         (171,512)        
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents, 
beginning of year

472,149         643,661         

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents,
end of year

446,372$       472,149$       
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The Leo S. Rowe Pan American Fund (the Fund), a charitable trust, was established in 1948 by the Governing Board 

of the General Secretariat of the Pan American Union (PAU) from monies and in  accordance with the will of Dr. Leo 

S. Rowe, a former Pan American Union Director General. The purpose of the Fund is to provide loans to students 

from Latin American and Caribbean Member States, who desire to study at colleges in the United States of America, 

and to provide education and emergency loans to staff of the Organization of American States (OAS).  The Fund is 

administered within the General Secretariat by a special committee. The Committee of the Leo S. Rowe Pan Ameri-

can Fund (Committee) consists of representatives of the Permanent Council and Secretary General and has the re-

sponsibility to oversee and approve the Fund’s activities.  

 

 

 

Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Committee designated net assets represent 

unrestricted assets in the amount of $1,000,000, comprised of investments that are not considered to be available 

for the purpose of granting loans. 

 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those esti-

mates. 

 

Equity  in OAS Treasury Fund 

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the OAS are combined in the 

OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the General Secretariat maintains equity to the extent of its cash 

balance retained therein. The General Secretariat administers the OAS Treasury Fund, and amounts not immediately 

required for operations are invested. Income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund in 

proportion to its balance. 

 

Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents include amounts invested in accounts that are readily convertible to cash. Investments with con-

tractual maturities of ninety days or less from the date of original purchase are classified as cash and cash equiva-

lents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds. In accordance with the Fund’s cash management policy of 

1. ORGANIZATION AND FINANCING 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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maximizing the amounts of funds invested in income-earning assets, the Fund routinely anticipates the timing and 

amount of future cash flows. 

 

Investments 

Investments are presented in the financial statements at fair value, which is primarily based upon quoted market 

prices.  Unrealized gains and losses in the value of investments are recognized in the statement of activities as the 

change in fair value between periods.  

 

Allowance for uncollectible loans 

The Fund maintains an allowance for uncollectible loans for estimated losses that may result from the inability of 

students to make payments.  Such allowances are based upon several factors, as explained in Note 4. 

 

Income tax status 

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from United States of America Federal income taxes. This ex-

emption also applies to this Fund. 

 

 

 

The Fund’s investments, in general, are ex-

posed to various risks, such as interest rate, 

credit and overall market volatility risks. Fur-

ther, due to the level of risk associated with 

certain investment securities, it is reasonably 

possible that changes in the values of invest-

ment securities will occur in the near term 

and such changes could materially affect the 

amounts reported in the statements of finan-

cial position as net assets available for bene-

fits.  

 

Investments held at December 31, 2007 and 

2006 are shown in Table 1. 

 

 

 

 

Loan receivable and allowance for loan losses 

Loans receivable as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, reduced by an 

allowance for loan losses. The allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for loan losses charged to 

expenses. Loans are charged against the allowance for loan losses when management believes that the collectibility 

of the principal is unlikely. The allowance is an amount that management believes will be adequate to absorb possi-

3. INVESTMENTS 

4. LOAN STATUS 

SECTION II 
CH 5 

2007 Fixed Income 
Securities Equity Investments Total

Market Value as 
of 01/01/2007

 $     5,557,456  $     6,367,289  $    11,924,745 

Dividends            347,130            106,745            453,875 

Unrealized Gain 
and Loss

             99,622            438,100            537,722 

Market Value as 
of 12/31/2007

 $     6,004,208  $     6,912,134  $    12,916,342 

2006 Fixed Income 
Securities Equity Investments Total

Market Value as 
of 01/01/2006

 $     4,915,580  $     5,269,611  $    10,185,191 

Purchases/Sales            405,963            153,809            559,772 
Dividends            265,547            209,003            474,550 
Unrealized Gain 
and Loss

           (29,634)            734,866            705,232 

Market Value as 
of 12/31/2006

 $     5,557,456  $     6,367,289  $    11,924,745 

Table 1 
Investments 
At December 31 
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ble losses on existing loans that may become 

uncollectible because of present conditions, 

and based on evaluations of the collectibility 

of loans and prior loan loss experience. The 

allowance for loan losses is based on esti-

mates and ultimate losses may vary from the 

current estimates. 

 

Non interest bearing loans are granted to stu-

dents, payable on various terms not to ex-

ceed 53 months from the termination of the 

studies for which the loans are granted. The Committee has extended the repayment dates for certain loans. Man-

agement believes that the allowance of $162,167 or approximately 14.7% of the student loan balance as of Decem-

ber 31, 2007, is sufficient to provide for losses that may be incurred upon the ultimate realization of these loans. 

 

During 2007 and 2006, the Fund approved new student loans aggregating approximately $227,275 and $233,762, 

respectively. The Fund received loan repayments of $608,954 and $766,725 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

 

New loans approved to employees for educational purposes or in emergency situations aggregated $91,838 and 

$65,178 in 2007 and 2006, respectively. The Fund received loan repayments of $130,413 and $213,859 in 2007 and 

2006, respectively. The interest rate applied to employee loans is equivalent to the prime rate of the United States of 

America and is adjusted periodically. The interest rate on employee loans granted in 2007 was 7.25%.    Interest 

rates on loans granted in 2006 varied between 7.25% and 8.25%.  

 

 

 

The balance of Due to MacLean Fund as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, represents amounts due to the Julia Mac-

Lean Legacy Fund (The MacLean Fund), a fund established to provide fellowships for Peruvian women studying in 

Washington D.C, using the interest earned on the initial endowment to provide for these fellowships.  The balance 

due to The MacLean Fund is equal to the initial endowment of $65,523 received from the estate of Mrs. Julia Mac-

Lean to The MacLean Fund.  

 

 

The Fund is not subject to any lawsuits which management believes will have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s 

financial condition.      

5. DUE TO MACLEAN FUND 

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

SECTION II 
CH 5 

Table 2 
Uncollectible Loans 
As of December 31 

2007 2006

Balance at beginning of year  $    128,575  $    150,835 

Write off of loans receivable        (90,552)          (8,891)

Revaluation of Allowance        124,144        (13,369)
Balance at end of year  $    162,167  $    128,575 
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SECTION II 
CH 6 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund (the Fund), 
as of December 31, 2007, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended.  These fi-
nancial statements are the responsibility of the Fund's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended December 31, 
2006 were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 23, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those 
statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.  Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Fund’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Fund as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of December 31 

SECTION II 
CH 6 

Organization of American States 
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund 
Statements of Activities 
For the years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

Organization of American States 
Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31 

2007 2006

Assets
Equity in the OAS Treasury Fund 243,258$       238,138$       

Total assets 243,258$       238,138$       

Net assets 243,258$       238,138$       
Total net assets 243,258$       238,138$       

2007 2006

Income
Investment income from OAS Treasury Fund 9,497$           8,811$           
Contribution from OAS Staff Association -                    2,100             

      Total Income 9,497             10,911           

Expenses
   Official Recognition -                    15,300           
   Subsidies 2,527             -                    
   Technical Services 1,850             5,725             
     Total Expenses 4,377             21,025           

Change in net assets 5,120             (10,114)         

Net assets, beginning of year 238,138         248,252         
Net assets, end of year 243,258$       238,138$       

2007 2006

Operating activities 
  Change in net assets 5,120$           (10,114)$        
      Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 5,120             (10,114)         

Net increase (decrease) in Equity in OAS Treasury Fund 5,120             (10,114)         
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, beginning of year 238,138         248,252         
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, end of year 243,258$       238,138$       
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The assets of the Rowe Memorial Benefit Fund (the Fund) have been accumulated principally from contributions re-

ceived from Dr. Leo S. Rowe, a former Director General of the Pan American Union. These assets are held in trust to 

provide certain welfare benefits for employees of the Organization of American States (OAS).  Administrative func-

tions of the Fund are provided without charge by the General Secretariat of the (GS/OAS). 

 

 

 

Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally  accepted in the United 

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could  differ from those 

estimates. 

 

In-Kind Contributions 

No amounts are recorded in the accompanying financial statements relating to the receipt of contributed services or 

facilities provided to the Fund by the GS/OAS as the services do not involve specialized skills and the use of facilities 

are minimal. 

 

Income Tax Status 

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from United States of America Federal income taxes. This ex-

emption also applies to the Fund. 

 

 

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the OAS are combined in the 

OAS Treasury Fund. Each fund administered by the GS/OAS maintains equity to the extent of its cash balance re-

tained therein. The OAS Treasury Fund is administered by the GS/OAS, and amounts not immediately required for 

operations are invested.  Income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion 

to its balance. 

1. ORGANIZATION AND FINANCING 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3. EQUITY IN OAS TREASURY FUND 
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The Fund is not subject to any lawsuits which management believes will have a material adverse effect on the Fund’s 

financial condition. 

4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
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SECTION II 
CH 7 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the General Secretariat of the Organization of 
American States Medical Benefits Trust Fund (the Trust), as of December 31, 2007, and the related statements of 
activities and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Trust's 
management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The fi-
nancial statements of the Trust for the year ended December 31, 2006, were audited by other auditors whose report 
dated March 23, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.  Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Trust’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing a opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opin-
ion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan-
cial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluat-
ing the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opin-
ion. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Trust as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
The accompanying statements are those of the Organization of American States Medical Benefits Trust Fund, which 
is established under the Organization of American States Medical Benefits Plan; the statements do not purport to 
present the financial status and the changes in financial status of the Organization of American States Medical Bene-
fits Plan. The statements do not report certain expenses, liabilities and disclosures necessary for a fair presentation of 
the financial status and changes in financial status of the Organization of American States Medical Benefits Plan in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
OAS Medical Benefits Trust Fund 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of December 31 

SECTION II 
CH 7 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

Organization of American States 
OAS Medical Benefits Trust Fund 
Statements of Activities 
For the years ended December 31 

2007 2006

Assets
   Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents 1,613,159$      740,311$         
   Mutual fund investments 20,838,394      18,751,283      
   Retiree accounts receivable 10,407            7,362              
   Other accounts receivable 35,761            26,496            

Total assets 22,497,721$    19,525,452$    

Liabilities and net assets 
   Accounts payable to Carefirst 136,069$         97,377$           
   Deferred income 512,549           474,401           

Total liabilities 648,618           571,778           

Net Assets
    Designated for unpaid claims 1,300,021        932,460           
    Undesignated 20,549,081      18,021,214      

Total net assets 21,849,102      18,953,674      

Total liabilities and net assets 22,497,721$    19,525,452$    

2007 2006
Income
  Contributions 10,548,834$    9,787,296$      
  Investment income 1,303,551        838,878           
  Other income 375,828           302,777           
  Net realized and unrealized gain on investments 5,058              1,490,355        

Total income 12,233,271      12,419,306      

Expenses
  Claims paid - Carefirst 8,081,664        6,907,830        
  Carefirst services 568,847           602,709           
  Stop Loss Insurance premiums 351,790           345,634           

Total expenses related to Carefirst 9,002,301        7,856,173        

  Other expenses not related to Carefirst 74,682            74,398            
  Kaiser health insurance 260,860           267,941           

Total expenses not related to Carefirst 335,542           342,339           
Total expenses 9,337,843        8,198,512        

Change in net assets 2,895,428        4,220,794        
Net assets, beginning of year 18,953,674      14,732,880      
Net assets, end of year 21,849,102$    18,953,674$    
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Organization of American States 
OAS Medical Benefits Trust Fund 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

SECTION II 
CH 7 

2007 2006

Operating activities
  Change in net assets 2,895,428$      4,220,794$      
  Net realized and unrealized gain on investments (5,058)             (1,490,355)      
  (Increase) in receivables (12,310)           (9,377)             
  Increase in accounts payable to Carefirst 38,692            -                     
  Increase (Decrease) in deferred income 38,148            (30,296)           
       Net cash provided by operating activities 2,954,900        2,690,766        

Investing activities 
  Sale of investments 170,595           346,460           
  Purchase of investments (1,013,923)      (1,726,054)      
  Dividends and capital gains reinvested (1,238,724)      (801,415)         

Net cash used in investing activities (2,082,052)      (2,181,009)      

Net increase in Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash 
equivalents

872,848           509,757           

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents, beginning 
of year

740,311           230,554           

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund and cash equivalents, end of year 1,613,159$      740,311$         
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

General 

The OAS Medical Benefits Trust (Trust) is a fund established in April 1982 by the General Secretariat of the Organi-

zation of American States (GS/OAS) to carry out certain provisions of the GS/OAS Medical Benefits Plan (Plan), in-

cluding investment of assets and payment of claims and administrative expenses. Pursuant to the provisions of the 

trust agreement dated June 27, 2000, the sole Trustee of the Trust is the Organization of American States General 

Secretariat (Secretary General). The Secretary General delegates his duties to five (5) Delegate Trustees appointed 

by him, two of them in consultation with the staff association and the Retiree Association of the GS/OAS. The Trust’s 

assets are held in custody by the Bank of America. 

 

The Eligibility and Benefits 

The Plan provides health benefits, including medical, dental and prescription drugs to GS/OAS employees and their 

covered eligible dependents. Retired employees are entitled to maintain the  insurance coverage as determined by 

certain  criteria involving age and years of service. Current health claims of active and retired Plan participants and 

their covered eligible dependents are provided under a group self–insurance contract administered by Carefirst Blue 

Cross Blue Shield (Carefirst), the third-party administrator. 

 

Contributions 

Employees and retirees participating in the Plan contribute specified amounts to the Trust, determined periodically 

by GS/OAS, for coverage for themselves and eligible dependents. Contribution revenues are recognized and earned 

on a monthly basis for the period the health care coverage is in effect. Deferred income represents prepayments of 

premiums for future health care coverage. 

 

Claims Payments 

Claims payment expense is recognized in the period in which the claims are received by the third-party administrator 

of the Plan and billed to the Trust.  Claims billed to the Trust by the third-party administrator, but not paid as of De-

cember 31, 2007 and 2006, are included in accounts payable on the accompanying statements of  financial position. 

 

Trust Rights and Obligations 

The Secretary General, as the Trustee, has the right under the Plan to modify the benefits provided to active and 

retired employees. All funds available will be used exclusively to pay benefits under the Plan until the funds are de-

pleted. 

 

 

Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with account-

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE TRUST 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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ing principles generally accepted in the United States of  America.  

 

Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents include amounts invested in accounts that are readily convertible to cash. Investments with con-

tractual maturities of ninety days or less from the date of original purchase are classified as cash and cash equiva-

lents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds. In accordance with the Trust’s cash management policy of 

maximizing the amounts of funds invested in income-earning assets, the Trust routinely anticipates the timing and 

amount of future cash flows. 

 

Equity in OAS Treasury 

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of the OAS are combined in the 

OAS Treasury Fund. The Trust maintains equity to the extent of its cash balances retained therein. The GS/OAS ad-

ministers the OAS Treasury Fund and invests amounts not immediately required for operations. Subject to certain 

conditions, income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund in proportion to its balance. 

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, contributions receivable and 

accounts payable approximate fair value given the short term nature of these financial instruments. 

 

Administrative Expenses 

The Trust pays all administrative expenses of the Plan. Total expenses paid by the Trust on behalf of the Plan for the 

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $568,847 and $602,709, respectively. 

 

Valuation of Investments 

The Trust investments are stated at fair value. The shares of mutual funds are valued at quoted market prices.  

 

Revenue Recognition 

Contributions are recognized when earned. Contributions received in advance of the benefit period are deferred until 

earned. 

 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those es-

timates. 

 

Market Risk 

The Trust’s investments, in general, are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, credit and overall market 

volatility risks. Further, due to the level of risk associated with certain investment securities, it is reasonably possible 

that changes in the values of investment securities will occur in the near term and such changes could materially 

affect the amounts reported in the statements of financial position as net assets available for benefits. The value of 

individual investments of the Trust are shown in Table 1. 

SECTION II 
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As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

$1,300,021 and $932,460, respec-

tively, of net assets have been desig-

nated for medical claims payable. 

This amount is computed based upon 

past claims payment experience, and 

in management’s opinion, is a reasonable estimate of claims incurred but not reported as of December 31, 2007 and 

2006. The liability for claims incurred but not reported under the Plan is a liability of the Plan and OAS, the employer 

organization. 

 

 

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from U.S. Federal income taxes. As a result, this exemption ap-

plies to the Trust. 

 

 

Health costs incurred by participants and their eligible dependents are covered by an insurance contract maintained 

by the Trust. It is the present intention of the GS/OAS and the Trust to continue obtaining insurance coverage for 

benefits. Insurance premiums for the future benefit obligations will be funded by contributions to the Trust in those 

later years. 

 

 

The Trust is not subject to litigation which management believes will have a material adverse effect on the Trust’s 

financial condition. 

 

 

The accrued or past service liabilities as of December 31, 2006 (date of last actuarial study) for postretirement 

health and life insurance benefits are approximately $57.2 million ($54.6  million for retiree health benefits and $2.6 

million for retiree life insurance). As of December 31, 2007, the Trust’s assets totaled $22,497,721. These funds are 

not for coverage of life insurance benefits. These liabilities under the Plan are liabilities of OAS, the employer organi-

zation, to the extent Trust funds are not available. 

3. NET ASSETS 
DESIGNATED FOR 
UNPAID CLAIMS 

4. TAX STATUS 

5. BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

SECTION II 
CH 7 

Table 1 
Fair value of individual investments 
As of December 31 

As of 12/31/2007 As of 12/31/2006

Vanguard Index SP 500  $       8,413,563  $       7,805,070 
Nations Fund Inc. International Value Fund 3,114,178 3,039,810
Vanguard Mid-Cap 1,829,691 1,756,046
Vanguard Small-Cap 1,185,881 1,175,413
Pimco Total Return 5,647,057 4,410,310
Pimco High Yield 648,023 564,634
 Total  $     20,838,393  $     18,751,283 

6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

7. ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF ACCUMULATED POST RETIREMENT PLAN BENEFITS 
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SECTION III 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the Trust for the Americas (the Trust), as of 
December 31, 2007, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended.  These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Trust's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of the Trust for the year ended December 31, 2006, 
were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 23, 2007, expressed an unqualified opinion on those state-
ments. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Trust’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Trust as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
Trust for the Americas 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of December 31 
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The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

Organization of American States 
Trust for the Americas 
Statements of Activities 
For the years ended December 31 

2007 2006
Assets

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund 1,832,654$    793,464$       
Government Grants Receivable 42,117           47,001           

Total Assets 1,874,771$    840,465$       

Liabilities and Net Assets
Accounts Payable 35,807$         15,541$         

Total Liabilities 35,807           15,541           

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 1,620,616      630,397         
Unrestricted Net assets 218,348         194,527         

1,838,964      824,924         

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 1,874,771$    840,465$       

2007 2006

Unrestricted Net Assets
Revenue:

Contributions 536,484$       974,230$       
Transfers In 8,016            209,188         
Interest Distribution to Fund 51,419           41,022           
Prior Year Refunds 4,616            3,149            
In-Kind Contributions 2,737,669      588,554         
OAS In-Kind Contributions 368,806         201,639         
Released from restrictions 1,410,373      608,514         

Total Revenue 5,117,383      2,626,296      

Expenses:
Transfers Out -                   77,014           
Returns to Donors -                   13,603           
Administrative and Project Expenses 1,987,087      1,668,102      
In-kind Expenses 2,737,669      588,554         
OAS In-kind Expenses 368,806         201,639         

Total Expenses 5,093,562      2,548,912      

Change in Unrestricted net assests 23,821           77,384           

Temporary Restricted Net Assets
Contributions 2,400,592      732,748         
Released from Restriction (1,410,373)     (608,514)       

990,219         124,234         

Change in Net Assets 1,014,040      201,618         

Net assets, beginning of period 824,924         623,306         
Net Assets, end of period 1,838,964$    824,924$       
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Organization of American States 
Trust for the Americas 
Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

SECTION III 
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2007 2006
Operating Activities

Change in net assets 1,014,040$    201,618$       

  Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
  to net cash from operating activities:

Government Grants Receivable 4,884            (47,001)         
Account Payable 20,266           2,848            
Deferred Revenue -                   (272,151)       

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 1,039,190      (114,686)       

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, beginning of the year 793,464         908,150         
Equity in OAS Treasury Fund, end of the year 1,832,654$    793,464$       
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Trust for the Americas (the Trust) was created in 1997 as a non profit entity incorporated in the District of Co-

lumbia. The Trust serves the Organization of American States (OAS) as an entry point to expand hemispheric coop-

eration and enhance economic development by providing a   channel for information, services, goods and funds.  In 

addressing central goals of OAS, and in response to the Summits of the Americas, the Trust mobilizes resources to 

confront the problems posed by extreme poverty and to promote democracy through actions that are environmen-

tally, economically and socially sustainable, and that foster public participation, particularly of groups previously ex-

cluded from the international dialogue. 

 

 

The operation of the Trust began in fiscal year 1998 with the principal focus on establishing the framework within 

which to begin program activities. Funding to establish the Trust was provided by Inter-American Council for Integral 

Development (CIDI) through a specific fund created to finance CIDI programs that strengthen partnerships with pri-

vate enterprises and foundations.  The resources have been provided by contributions from corporate donors, Fed-

eral grants, contributions from the Executive Secretariat for Integral Development (SEDI) for staff and office sup-

port, and in-kind donations from corporate and other donors. 

 

Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with account-

ing principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

  

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and 

the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those esti-

mates. 

 

Equity in OAS Treasury Fund 

All U.S. dollars available for use in carrying out the activities of the various funds of OAS are combined in the OAS 

Treasury Fund. The Trust for the Americas Fund maintains equity to the extent of its cash balances retained therein. 

The General Secretariat administers the OAS Treasury Fund and invests amounts not immediately required for op-

erations. Subject to certain conditions, income earned by the OAS Treasury Fund is added to the equity of each fund 

in proportion to its balance.  

 

 

 

1. ORGANIZATION AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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Fund Accounting and Net Asset Classifications 

The Trust has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 117 “Financial Statements of Not-

for-Profit Organizations”.  The Trust accounts are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into projects es-

tablished according to their nature and purposes.  In the financial statements, projects that have similar characteris-

tics have been combined into the following two net asset categories: 

 

Temporarily Restricted – Net assets that are subject to donor imposed stipulations that will be met either by passage 

of time or by the actions of the Trust.  As the restrictions are satisfied, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassi-

fied to unrestricted net assets and are reported in the accompanying statements of activities as net assets released 

from restrictions. The temporary restrictions of the Trust are contributions to be used for projects specified by the 

donor. 

 

Unrestricted – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations and that may be expended for any pur-

pose in achieving the primary objective of the Trust.  

 

Government Grants 

The Trust has an ongoing significant grant agreement with the United States government in which the Trust draws 

down funds through the Letter of Credit system.  This grant agreement is described in further detail in Note 4.  The 

United States grant awards are recognized as revenue to the extent of expenses incurred for purposes specified by 

the grantor.  Expenses incurred in excess of cash received from the letter of credit draw down of the United States 

funds are shown as government grants receivable.   

 

Contributions 

Contributions are recorded when earned.  The Trust records contributions as temporarily restricted if funds are re-

ceived with donor stipulations that limit their use either through purpose or time restrictions.  When donor restric-

tions expire, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the accom-

panying statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions.  

 

In-kind Contributions 

The Trust received in-kind contributions that are donated to the Trust as part of an agreement (the Agreement) with 

the OAS through the SEDI. Under the Agreement, the OAS through the SEDI supports the Trust with financial, mate-

rial and staff support to enable the Trust to accomplish its objectives. The Trust also receives in-kind contributions 

directly from the OAS in the form of technical assistance and logistical support to projects and other costs.  The OAS 

In-Kind contributions to the Trust amount to $368,806 and $201,639 as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respec-

tively. These amounts are included as revenue and expenses in the accompanying statements of activities for the 

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.  

 

The Trust received in-kind contributions in 2007 and 2006 in the form of software donated by the Microsoft Corpora-

tion to the Trust for its Programa de Oportunidades para el Empleo a través de las Tecnologías en las Américas 

(POETA) program in Latin America.  The estimated fair value of the software provided by Microsoft was $2,737,669 

and $588,554, in 2007 and in 2006, respectively.  

 

The increase in fair value from 2006 to 2007 is due to new versions of the software. 
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Federal Income Tax 

The Trust is exempt from Federal income tax under section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization 

described in section 501(c) (3). The Trust is not a private foundation within the meaning of section 509(a) of the 

Code, because it is an organization described in section 509(a)(1)(A)(vi). 

 

 

 

The Trust entered into a significant grant agreement in 2007 with the United States Department of State (USDOS) to 

work with the Central America-Dominican Republic – United States Trade Agreement (CAFTA-DR) countries. This 24 

month initiative will target all six CAFTA-DR countries to build the capacity of both worker and employer.  The agree-

ment is for a total of $2,000,000 of which $4,550 was expended and unreimbursed at year end and included in the 

government grants receivable. 

 

 

The Trust’s Year 2007 project expenditures correspond to its two main initiatives and were incurred as follows: 

 

Transparency and Governance Projects:  $651,016 

Technology for Development Projects:    $660,936 

 

These expenditures are included in Administrative and Project Expenses on the Statements of Activities. 

4. SIGNIFICANT CONTRIBUTIONS 

5. PROJECT EXPENDITURES 
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SECTION III 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

The Board of External Auditors 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of the Inter-American Defense Board (the 
Board), as of December 31, 2007, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended. 
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The financial statements of the Board for the year ended 
December 31, 2006, were audited by other auditors whose report dated March 23, 2007, expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those statements. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Board’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the Board’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the 2007 financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Board as of December 31, 2007, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 25, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
Inter-American Defense Board 
Statements of Financial Position 
As of December 31 
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Organization of American States 
Inter-American Defense Board 
Statements of Activities 
For the years ended December 31 

2007 2006
Assets
  Cash and cash equivalents 175,195$      137,036$      
  Accounts receivable 110,669       196,023       
  Prepaid expenses 4,202           4,040           
  Equipment 863,039       842,007       
  Leasehold Improvements -                  42,000         
  Less: accumulated depreciation 741,555       689,709       
Total assets 411,550$      531,397$      

Liabilities and net assets
  Accounts payable and accrued expenses 48,100$       124,582$      
  Accrued leave 59,463         51,913         
Total liabilities 107,563       176,495       

  Unrestricted Net Assets 303,987       354,902       
Total liabilities and net assets 411,550$      531,397$      

2007 2006

Revenue
  Funding received from OAS 1,436,200$   1,416,200$   
  In-kind contribution 3,359,500    3,754,080    
  Reimbursement income 343,678       266,541       
  Interest and other income 17,108         75,972         
Total revenue 5,156,486    5,512,793    

Expenses
  Personnel 590,377       582,693       
  Other general and administrative 537,829       479,561       
  Depreciation 51,845         5,431           
  In-kind expense 3,359,500    3,754,080    
  Bad debt expense -                  8,548           
  Contracts 667,850       870,602       
Total expenses 5,207,401    5,700,915    

Change from operations (50,915)        (188,122)      

Non-operating income -                  157,729       
Change in net assets (50,915)        (30,393)        

Net assets, beginning of year 354,902       385,295       
Net assets, end of year 303,987$      354,902$      
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Organization of American States 
Inter-American Defense Board 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31 

The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements 

2007 2006

Operating activities:
  Change in net assets (50,915)$      (30,393)$      
  Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets
  to net cash from operating activities:
  Depreciation 51,845         5,431           
  Non operating income -                  (157,729)      
  Bad debt expense -                  8,548           
  Prepaid expenses (162)             (317)             
  Account receivable 85,354         (160,379)      
  Account payable (76,481)        3,432           
  Accrued leave 7,550           6,693           
  Leasehold Transferred 42,000         -                  
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 59,191         (324,714)      

Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (21,031)        (128,841)      

Financing activities:
  Cash received for auditorioum renovation -                  157,729       

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 38,160         (295,826)      
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 137,036       432,862       
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 175,196$      137,036$      
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The Inter-American Defense Board (the Board) was established on March 30, 1942 and designated, by executive 

order, as a public international organization on March 26, 1951 by the General Assembly of the Organization of 

American States (OAS). On March 15, 2006 by OAS resolution (AG/RES.1 XXXII-E/06) the Board became an entity 

of the OAS.  

 

The Board is comprised of military officers representing the highest echelons of their nation’s defense establish-

ments. The mission of the Board is to provide the OAS and its Member States with technical and educational advice 

and consultancy services on matters related to military and defense issues in the Hemisphere in order to contribute 

to the fulfillment of the OAS Charter. 

 

The Inter-American Defense College (the College) was established in 1962 as a sub-organization of the Board. Its 

primary goal is the preparation of future military and civilian leaders for leadership roles in the hemisphere. 

 

The Board is an entity of the OAS and receives a substantial portion of its operating budget from the OAS; however, 

the two organizations maintain separate management structures. The Board has experienced a continuous decrease 

in its budget due to decreases in funding provided by the OAS. In response to the lower budgets, the Board has had 

to dramatically reduce its civilian work force from 87 civilian personnel in 1987 to 7 civilian personnel at the end of 

fiscal year 2007.  

 

The administration has reduced expenses and personnel costs to absolute minimal levels and further reductions may 

compromise the organization’s ability to adequately perform its mission. The lack of civilian personnel is affecting the 

institutional memory of the organization as well as program continuity which is a serious management challenge.  

 

 

 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting, conforming with the Ac-

counting Principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Certain reclassifications have been made to 

the fiscal year 2006 balances to keep consistent with the 2007 presentation. 

 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

1. ORGANIZATION 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
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reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period.  Actual results could differ from those esti-

mates. 

 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Board’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 

accrued expenses.  In management’s opinion, the carrying amounts of the financial instruments approximate their 

fair value as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Board considers all highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be 

cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of money market funds as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

 

Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, consist primarily of amounts related to costs incurred by 

the Board which are reimbursable by U.S. Department of Defense (DoD). 

 

Property and equipment 

Equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation expense is recognized using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful life of the assets. The useful life of equipment is three years. Leasehold im-

provements were transferred to the General Secretariat of the OAS in 2007. 

 

 

The Board is a public international organization and as such, is exempt from paying U.S. Government income tax. 

 

 

All of the employees of the Board participate in a contributory multi-employer pension plan administered by the Re-

tirement and Pension Plan Committee of the OAS. Contributions to the Plan by the Board and employees are based 

on fixed percentages of annual pensionable salaries in accordance with United Nations tables and amounted to 

$77,344 and $76,372 in fiscal years 2007 and 2006, respectively.  

 

The Board provides certain benefits to its employees, which accrue to them during periods of employment and are 

payable upon separation. All employees are entitled to accrued leave. For FY-07 and FY-06 no payments were made 

for such benefits. 

 

 

Funding received from the OAS as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $1,436,200 and $1,416,200, respectively. 

The Board relies upon the OAS for funding for all its operating activities and is dependent on the continued financial 

support of the OAS. 

3. INCOME TAXES 

4. PENSION PLAN AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

5. FUNDING 

SECTION III 
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The headquarters of the Board is a building owned by the General Secretariat of the OAS. The Inter-American De-

fense College facilities are at Ft Lesley McNair owned by the Department of Defense of the United States. 

 

 

The Board received in-kind contributions from the OAS, DoD, and Member States totaling approximately $3,359,500 

and $3,754,080 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. These in-kind contributions were 

valued at their fair value and represent the use of office space and transportation provided to the Board and College 

by the DoD and OAS. The OAS provided in-kind contributions for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 in 

the amounts of $1,173,000 or 34.9%, and $1,287,000 or 34.3%, respectively, for the use of the building at 2600  

16th St. NW, Washington DC. The DoD provided in-kind support for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 

in the amount of $1,828,500 or 54.4%, and $2,112,000 or 56.3% for the use of the building at Fort McNair, Wash-

ington DC. Other in-kind contributions support provided by the DoD and other Member States of the OAS for the 

years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $358,000 and $355,080, respectively, which included the use of U.S. 

aircraft on in-country transportation for student trips. 

 

The Board sought and received support from DoD for several funded seminars and support for ongoing Board activi-

ties. This support was approximately $343,678 and $266,541 for the year ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, re-

spectively and is included in the Board reimbursement income. These initiatives were in addition to the normal op-

erations and curriculum of the College providing greater participation opportunities to all OAS Member States. While 

the Board intends to continue seeking external funding for such events, all future contributions will be subject to 

individual event approval by the DoD agency providing that funding. A significant portion of the DoD funding may 

not be received in 2008. The Board received $60,351 and $57,351 for its scholarship program (IMET) as of Decem-

ber 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The support was directed to the efforts to bring students from OAS member 

States that can not participate at the College for lack of funding. 

 

 

 

The Board’s expenses were primarily for four 

functions: the Council of Delegates, the Sub 

Secretariat for Advisory Services (SAS and 

former International Staff), the Inter-

American Defense College, and the Sub- 

Secretariat for Administrative Support 

(SACS). The OAS funding expenses incurred 

during 2007 and 2006 were calculated ap-

proximately and are shown in Table 1. 

 

 

 

The Board is not subject to any lawsuits which management believes will have a material adverse effect on the 

Board’s financial condition. 

6. IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS 

7. PROGRAM EXPENSES 

SECTION III 
CH 9 

Table 1 
OAS funding expenses 
As of December 31 

2007 2006

Council of Delegates 261,790$     175,000$     
Sub-Secretariat for Advisory Services 171,509$     121,000$     
Inter-American Defense College 874,176$     965,000$     
Sub-Secretariat for Administration 128,725$     153,000$     

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 
 
  

Retirement and Pension Fund Committee 
Organization of American States 

  
  
We have audited the accompanying statements of net assets available for benefits to participants of the Organization 
of American States Retirement and Pension Fund (the Fund) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related 
statements of changes in net assets available for benefits to participants for the years then ended. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these  
financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Fund’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial status of 
the Fund at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the changes in its financial status for the years then ended, in confor-
mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
April 4, 2008 
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Organization of American States 
Retirement and Pension Fund 
Statements of Net Assets Available for Benefits to Participants 
As of December 31 
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Organization of American States 
Retirement and Pension Fund 
Statements of Changes in Net Assets Available for Benefits to Participants 
For the years ended December 31 

2007 2006
Assets
Investments at fair value:

Short-term investments  $           23,841,263  $              8,730,199 
U.S. Government and Agency Issues                 3,059,471                16,380,715 
Corporate Bonds                 2,989,855                11,533,173 
Commingled equity trusts             154,043,720              163,831,840 
Fixed income index               95,526,614                80,759,142 
Common stock               24,210,610                22,040,826 

Sub-total             303,671,533              303,275,895 

Accrued interest and dividends                      62,036                      95,228 
Due from broker for securities sold  –                      63,846 

Total Assets  $         303,733,569  $          303,434,969 

Liabilities
Due to broker for securities purchased  $                207,172  $                           - 
Provident Plan participants accounts                    905,544                    691,440 
Administrative expenses payable                    129,169                    107,752 

Total Liabilities                 1,241,885                    799,192 

Net Assets Available for Benefits  $         302,491,684  $          302,635,777 

2007 2006
Additions
Net appreciation in fair value of investments  $           21,382,318  $            36,823,594 
Interest and dividends                 1,836,954                 1,838,988 
Less: investment expenses                  (554,986)                   (507,779)

              22,664,286                38,154,803 
Contributions:

Institutions                 8,635,485                 8,437,735 
Participants                 4,359,824                 4,217,880 
Participant payments for purchase of years of participation                    135,686                      70,658 

              13,130,995                12,726,273 

Total Additions               35,795,281                50,881,076 

Deductions
Payments to pensioners                 7,214,072                 6,676,553 
Liquidations paid to participants (or their beneficiaries)               27,894,576                46,842,101 
Interest credited to Provident Plan accounts                      31,628                      43,674 
Administrative expenses                    799,098                    783,153 

Total Deductions               35,939,374                54,345,481 

Net Decrease                  (144,093)                (3,464,405)

Net Assets Available for Benefits
Beginning of the year             302,635,777              306,100,182 
End of the year  $         302,491,684  $          302,635,777 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

The activity of the Organization of American States Retirement and Pension Fund (the Fund) includes both the Re-

tirement and Pension Plan (the Plan) and the Provident Plan. The following brief description of the Plan and the 

Provident Plan is provided for general information purposes only. The Plan and Provident Plan documents should be 

consulted for detailed information. 

 

General  

The Plan is a contributory retirement plan maintained for the benefit of most staff members of the Organization of 

American States (the OAS) and other affiliated institutions. Compulsory contributions are shared two-thirds by the 

institution and one-third by the staff member. 

 

The Provident Plan is a contributory defined benefits savings plan established for the benefit of employees under 

short-term contracts. Compulsory contributions by the employer and the participant are made in equal amounts, and 

the balances in the accounts are fully vested in the name of the participants. The total of the accumulated funds in 

the Provident Plan participants’ accounts may only be withdrawn at the time of death, transfer to another qualified 

plan, or separation. 

 

Funding Policy  

The Plan and the Provident Plan are funded by the General Secretariat, other affiliated institutions, and compulsory 

participants’ contributions at fixed percentages of their annual pensionable remunerations. A portion of the income 

earned on the Fund’s investments is allocated semiannually to the Plan and the Provident Plan participants’ accounts 

at rates determined by the Retirement and Pension Fund Committee (the Committee). The remaining portion, if any, 

is retained in the Fund’s General Reserve for operational costs and to ensure the Fund’s sustainability. Interest cred-

ited to participants’ accounts as determined by the Committee was 6% and 11.75% in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Plan participants’ accumulated contributions were $75,438,477 and $78,758,525 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 

respectively, including interest credited at rates determined by the Committee, compounded semiannually. 

 

Benefits  

Amounts included in participants’ Plan accounts may only be withdrawn at the time of death or separation. Partici-

pants leaving the Plan before mandatory retirement age are entitled to receive the amount of their personal credits 

(contributions plus interest) and a percentage of the institutional credit (employer’s contributions plus interest) 

based upon the vesting provisions of the Plan. 

 

The vesting provisions of the Plan provide that participants with less than four years of participation receive, in addi-

tion to 100% of their personal credits, 35% of the institutional credit. Participants with four, but less than five, years 

of participation receive 40% of the institutional credit. Participants receive an additional 20% of the institutional 

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND 
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credit for each additional year in excess of four. They are fully vested in their institutional credits after seven years 

of participation. 

 

Minimum conditions for retirement are fifty-five years of age and fifteen years of participation in the Plan. Upon retir-

ing, participants in the Plan are entitled to a pension payable for life with the option of taking up to 1/3 of the actu-

arial value of their pension in a one-time lump-sum payment. Participants who joined the Plan before January 1, 

1982 may elect, instead of the preceding benefit, a life annuity based on the total sum standing to their credit in 

their accounts. Alternatively, at their request, the Committee has the discretion to substitute some other form of 

benefit of equivalent value. 

 

The Plan provides for minimum pension benefits. The minimum life pension for a participant at age sixty-five, with 

not less than fifteen years of participation in the Plan, is an annual amount equal to 2% of the average annual pen-

sionable remuneration (for the thirty-six consecutive months of highest pensionable remuneration within the last five 

years of remunerated participation) multiplied by the number of years of participation up to a maximum of thirty, 

and 1 2/3% additional for every year of participation in excess of thirty but no more than forty. 

 

The same method is used to determine the amount of the voluntary retirement pension due to participants who elect 

this form of retirement that is applicable to participants fifty-five years of age or older, but less than sixty-five, 

whose years of participation and age, when added, total not less than eighty-five (the rule of 85). Certain actuarial 

reductions are made for retirement of participants who do not satisfy either the conditions for compulsory retirement 

or the rule of 85. Cost-of-living adjustments to pensions are contemplated in the Plan. 

 

Death Benefits 

Upon death of a pensioner (or a participant with not less than five years of participation who dies while in active ser-

vice), the surviving spouse and minor or disabled children are entitled to a pension, as defined in the Plan. When an 

active participant dies with less than five years of participation, the surviving spouse and the minor or disabled chil-

dren, if any, receive the total of the accumulated funds in the participant’s account. Also, for a participant who dies 

while in active service with no surviving spouse or children, the Plan authorizes payment of the respective personal 

credit (personal contributions and its accrued interest) to the designated beneficiaries. 

 

Disability Benefits 

Participants with five or more years of participation in the Plan, whose services are terminated because of physical or 

mental disability, receive annual disability benefits, in the form of a life pension, as defined in the Plan. Participants 

who have less than five years of participation receive the total of the accumulated funds in their accounts. A partici-

pant who joined the Plan before January 1, 1982 may elect to be covered instead by alternative provisions on dis-

ability retirement as defined in the Plan. 

   

Fund Termination 

If the Fund is terminated, every participant, regardless of length of participation, is entitled to all the contributions 

credited to his or her account and the increment thereon. 

 

Except to correct any actuarial errors, no part of the contribution to the Plan made by the General Secretariat of the 

OAS or any other affiliated institution, or of the increment thereon, shall revert to the general funds of the institution 

or be used for any other purpose than the exclusive benefit to the participants or their beneficiaries. 
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Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Benefits are re-

corded when paid. 

 

Investment Valuation and Income Recognition 

Common stocks, fixed income indices, and debt securities are valued at fair market value measured by the quoted 

price of the active market on which the security is traded as of the latest trade date prior to year-end. Short-term 

investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Commingled equity trusts are valued by obtaining a 

price from their issuer, which is based on quoted prices of the active markets on which the underlying security is 

traded. 

 

Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on a trade-date basis. Interest income is recorded on the accrual ba-

sis. Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. 

 

Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits 

Accumulated plan benefits are those estimated future periodic payments, including lump-sum distributions that are 

attributable under the Plan’s provisions to the participants or their beneficiaries. Accumulated plan benefits include 

benefits expected to be paid to (a) retired or terminated employees or their beneficiaries, and (b) present employees 

or their beneficiaries. The actuarial present value of accumulated plan benefits is determined by the consulting actu-

aries, Buck Consultants. 

 

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 

statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

 

The Fund’s investment portfolio is managed by State Street Global Advisors; The Northern Trust Company; Barclays 

Global Investors; Aberdeen Asset Management; Lord, Abbett & Co.; Grantham, Mayo, Van Otterloo & Co., LLC 

(GMO); and Merrill Lynch, within the investment policy guidelines established by the Committee. The Committee also 

retains the firm Buck Consultants as investment advisors. 

 

State Street Global Advisors manages the domestic passive equity (large and medium capitalization) and the long-

term passive bond portfolios. They also act as the custodian for both portfolios. Lord, Abbett & Co. manages the ac-

tive small cap portion of the domestic equity portfolio and the Northern Trust Company also acts as the custodian for 

this portfolio. The Northern Trust Company also manages and acts as the custodian for a portion of the short term, 

fixed-income investment portfolio. Merrill Lynch manages and acts as the custodian for the other portion of the 

short-term, fixed-income investment portfolio. Aberdeen Asset Management* manages the active portion of the 

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

3. INVESTMENTS 

* Aberdeen Asset Management has its own custody agreement with State Street Bank and Trust Company. The Fund, as well, monitors its 

activities through the Northern Trust Company. 
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long-term bond portfolio. Barclays Global Investors manages and acts as the custodian of the passive international 

equity portfolio. GMO manages and acts as the custodian for the active portion of the international equity portfolio. 

Buck Consultants performs the monitoring of 

the investment managers and investment re-

turns to assure compliance with the Commit-

tee’s established policies. Buck Consultants 

also presents quarterly reports to the Commit-

tee. The fair value of individual investments 

that represent 5% or more of the Fund’s net 

assets is shown in Table 1. The classification of 

investments by portfolio and financial instru-

ments is presented in Tables 2 and 3, for 

2007 and 2006, respectively. These tables 

facilitate the understanding of the composi-

tion and nature of the investment structure 

of the Fund. Also, the listing of investment 

assets in the Statement of Net Assets Avail-

able for Benefits to Participants follows the 

classification by financial instruments in full 

compliance with accounting principles gener-

ally accepted in the United States. Net realized and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) for the years ended De-

cember 31, 2007 and 2006 is shown in Table 4. 

Table 1 
Individual Investments that Represent 5% or more of the Fund’s Net Assets 
As of December 31, 2007 

Russel 1000 Index  $      92,941,525 
Aberdeen Core Plus Fixed Income Fund  $      26,265,128 
SSGA Passive Bond Fixed Income Fund  $      58,424,818 
EAFE EQ Index FD ex-Japan  $      40,731,038 

Table 2 
Classification of Investments by Portfolio 
2007 

Table 3 
Classification of Investments by Portfolio 
2006 

Table 4 
Net realized and unrealized appreciation (depreciation) 
For the years ended December 31 

Financial Categories
Short-Term 

Portfolio
Fixed-Term 

Portfolio
Domestic Equities 

Portfolio
International 

Equity TOTAL
Short-Term Investments 22,082,200$  -$                  1,759,063$        -$                  23,841,263$      
U.S. Government and Agency Issues 1,808,686      1,250,785      -                        -                    3,059,471         
Corporate Bonds 2,989,855      -                    -                        -                    2,989,855         
Fixed Income Index -                    95,526,614    -                        -                    95,526,614        
Commingled Equity Trusts/Common Stocks -                    -                    117,152,135      61,102,195    178,254,330      

TOTAL 26,880,741$  96,777,399$  118,911,198$     61,102,195$  303,671,533$    

Financial Categories
Short-Term 

Portfolio
Fixed-Term 

Portfolio
Domestic Equities 

Portfolio
International 

Equity TOTAL
Short-Term Investments 7,845,346$    -$                  884,853$           -$                  8,730,199$        
U.S. Government and Agency Issues 6,386,669      9,994,046      -                        -                    16,380,715        
Corporate Bonds 11,533,173    -                    -                        -                    11,533,173        
Fixed Income Index -                    80,759,142    -                        -                    80,759,142        
Commingled Equity Trusts/Common Stocks -                    -                    119,190,827      66,681,839    185,872,666      

TOTAL 25,765,188$  90,753,188$  120,075,680$     66,681,839$  303,275,895$    

2007 2006

Fixed Income Index 5,990,395$    3,538,163$    
U.S Government and Agency Issues (60,593)         340,694         
Corporate Bonds 49,713           (15,100)         
Commingled Equity Trusts/Common Stocks 15,402,803    32,959,837    
Total 21,382,318$  36,823,594$  
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Table 5 shows the values of the assumptions used for the actuarial valuation of the Fund as of December 31, 2007 

and 2006. These assumptions are based on the presumption that the Plan will continue.  Were the Plan to terminate, 

different actuarial assumptions and other factors might be applicable in determining the actuarial present value of 

accumulated plan benefits. 

The actuarial present value of accumulated Plan benefits and benefit information for December 31, 2007 and 2006 

are shown in Table 6. 

The reconciliation shown in Table 7 sets forth the reasons for the change in the total actuarial present value of accu-

mulated plan benefits for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. 

4. ACTUARIAL PRESENT VALUE OF ACCUMULATED PLAN BENEFITS 

Table 5 
Actuarial Valuations Assumptions 
For the years ended December 31 

Table 6 
Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits 
For the years ended December 31 (in thousands) 

2007 2006

Vested Benefits:
Participants  $    146,638  $    155,976 
Pensioners         80,576         75,826 

Total vested benefits        227,214        231,802 

Non-vested benefits         49,374         52,518 

Total Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits  $    276,588  $    284,320 

Table 7 
Reconciliation of the Total Actuarial Present Value of the Accumulated Plan Benefits 
For the years ended December 31 (in thousands) 

2007 2006

Mortality United Nations Mortality tables – Male and Female 
2000.

United Nations Mortality tables – Male and Female 
2000.

Retirement 2.5 times the rates used in 1996 and 2002. 90% for 
ages 65–69 with 15 or more years of service.

2.5 times the rates used in 1996 and 2002. 90% for 
ages 65–69 with 15 or more years of service.

Interest 8.0% of which 5.6% is assumed to be credited to 
participants’ accounts.

8.0% of which 5.6% is assumed to be credited to 
participants’ accounts.

Retirement benefit election 75% participants assumed to elect full commutation 
with the remaining 25% assumed to take their benefit 
in the form of annuity.

75% participants assumed to elect full commutation 
with the remaining 25% assumed to take their benefit 
in the form of annuity.

Operational costs 0.4% 0.4%

2007 2006

Total Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits at Beginning of the Year 284,320$        260,736$        
Increase (decrease) attributable to:

Interest earned on accumulated Plan benefits 21,352           18,759           
Benefits paid (35,518)          (53,518)          
Benefits accumulated and actuarial experience 6,434             33,491           
Assumption changes -                    24,842           
Change in 415 limit -                    10                  

Total Actuarial Present Value of Accumulated Plan Benefits at End of the Year 276,588$        284,320$        
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The Fund has an operational money market account with Merrill Lynch from which liquidation and annuitant pay-

ments are made. This account is considered to be part of the investment portfolio maintained by the Fund and is 

included as part of cash and cash equivalents when calculating the investment allocation in accordance with the in-

vestment policy guidelines established by the Committee. Money market account balances were $12,695,465 and 

$6,896,335 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

 

 

 

The Fund participates in a securities lending program administered by The Northern Trust Company (Northern). Cer-

tain securities of the Fund are loaned to participating brokers who provide collateral, in the form of cash, govern-

ment securities, or irrevocable bank letters of agreement, valued at 102% of the market value of the securities on 

loan. The collateral is invested on behalf of the Fund and the associated investment income, net of the amount re-

bated to the borrower as a return on the collateral, is shared 60/40 and 50/50 between the Fund and Northern for 

government securities and corporate securities, respectively. The Fund and Northern have economic risk if the return 

earned on the invested collateral is less than the agreed rebate to the borrower. This risk is managed by investing 

the collateral in a pool of low risk, short-term investment securities. The Fund retains ownership of the loaned secu-

rities and 0801-0898868-MCL 11 the right to recall them at any time. Accordingly, the loaned securities included in 

the net assets of the Fund as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, were $1,982,941 and $7,345,063, respectively. 

 

 

 

As an international organization, the OAS is exempt from U.S. federal income taxes and such exemption applies to 

the Retirement and Pension Fund of the OAS. 

5. MONEY MARKET ACCOUNT 

6. SECURITIES LENDING 

7. INCOME TAX STATUS OF THE PLAN 
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THE ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES 
 

 
The Organization of American States (OAS) is the world's oldest regional organization, dating back to the First 
International Conference of American States, held in Washington, D.C., from October 1889 to April 1890. At 
that meeting the establishment of the International Union of American Republics was approved. The Charter 
of the OAS was signed in Bogota in 1948 and entered into force in December 1951. The Charter was subse-
quently amended by the Protocol of Buenos Aires, signed in 1967, which entered into force in February 1970; 
by the Protocol of Cartagena de Indias, signed in 1985, which entered into force in November 1988; by the 
Protocol of Managua, signed in 1993, which entered into force in January 1996; and, by the Protocol of Wash-
ington, signed in 1992, which entered into force in September 1997.  The OAS currently has 35 Member States. 
In addition, the Organization has granted permanent observer status to over 45 states, as well as the European 
Union. 

  
The essential purposes of the OAS are: to strengthen peace and security in the Hemisphere; to promote and 
consolidate representative democracy, with due respect for the principle of nonintervention; to prevent possible 
causes of difficulties and to ensure peaceful settlement of disputes that may arise among the Member States; to 
provide for common action on the part of those states in the event of aggression; to seek the solution of politi-
cal, juridical, and economic problems that may arise among them; to promote, by cooperative action, their eco-
nomic, social, and cultural development; and, to achieve an effective limitation of conventional weapons allow-
ing to devote the largest amount of resources to the economic and social development of the Member States.  

 
The OAS accomplishes its purposes by means of: the General Assembly; the Meeting of Consultation of Minis-
ters of Foreign Affairs; the Councils (the Permanent Council and the Inter-American Council for Integral De-
velopment); the Inter-American Juridical Committee; the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights; the 
General Secretariat; the specialized conferences; the specialized Organizations; and, other entities established by 
the General Assembly.  
 
The General Assembly holds regular sessions once a year. Under special circumstances it meets in special ses-
sion. The Meeting of Consultation is convened to consider urgent matters of common interest and to serve as 
Organ of Consultation under the Inter-American Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance (Rio Treaty), the main instru-
ment for joint action in the event of aggression. The Permanent Council takes cognizance of such matters as 
are entrusted by the General Assembly or the Meeting of Consultation, and implements the decisions of both 
organs when their implementation has not been assigned to any other body. It monitors the maintenance of 
friendly relations among Member States and the observance of the standards governing General Secretariat op-
erations and also acts provisionally as Organ of Consultation under the Rio Treaty. The General Secretariat is 
the central and permanent organ of the OAS. The headquarters of both the Permanent Council and the Gen-
eral Secretariat is in Washington, D.C.  

 
 

MEMBER STATES 
 

Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, The Bahamas (Commonwealth of), Barbados, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, Chile, 
Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica (Commonwealth of), Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala, 

Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, 
Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, United States, Uruguay and Venezuela. 
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